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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFHE

TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China Sonangol
Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”), | present to you the
audited consolidated final results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recorded
turnover and loss attributable to the shareholders of HK$96,090,000
(2009: HK$23,105,000) and HK$33,970,000 (2009 loss:
HK$28,764,000) respectively. The board does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009:
Nil).

The loss for the year ended 2010 was mainly attributed to certain
non-operating items and was arrived after deducting non-cash
expense of approximately HK$18,539,000 (2009: HK$16,634,000)
deemed interest expense for the convertible notes issued by the
Group as well as the impairment loss on goodwill HK$5,400,000
(2009: Nil). These were all non-cash items and were not expected to
have adverse effect on the Group’s cash flow.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

For the last financial year under review, it was challenging and
encountering complicated economic conditions, the Group firmly
repositioned itself to the development of our resources business and
has laid down the foundation for our future growth and diversification
of business operations.

The Group completed the acquisition of a 51% equity interest in
a company with mining interests and conducting selling of coal
in Xinjiang Province, China in July 2009 and, subsequent to this
financial year, we proposed to acquire the remaining 49% equity
interest from the joint venture partner so that our Group could wholly-
own the mining resources included (i) the mining rights of Kaiyuan
Open Pit Coal Mine located in the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region, the PRC, which has the estimated proved coal reserves and
the estimated probable coal reserves approximately 17.63 million
tones and 4.58 million tonnes respectively and (ii) the exploration
rights of Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine located in the Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region, the PRC, which has the estimated measured
coal resources of 56.58 million tonnes as of 29 March 2009.

The lingering effect of the financial tsunami, coupled with the sluggish
economic activities in Xinjiang region during the second half of the
financial year, our coal business has badly hurt. Nevertheless, we are
positive about the prospect of the coal mining industry in the PRC, as
coal is the major source of the PRC’s primary energy consumption,
we believe that the demand for coal from the various industries will
continue to be robust in view of the economy in China maintain its
gradually growth.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)
EFEHE (H)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

Going forward, the Group will continue to explore other investment
opportunities in the energy and natural resources industries that have
earning potentials as well as sustainable growth prospect aiming at
maximizing the benefits for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

| wish to thank my fellow directors, management and staff for their
unrelentless efforts for the business development of the Company.
On behalf of the Board, | express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, suppliers and business partners for their
continued support of the Company.

By order of the Board

Lo Fong Hung
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 18 June 2010
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFWR S

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$96,090,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$23,105,000). It represents
an increase of approximately HK$72,985,000 or 316% as compared
with last year.

Gross profit
The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 was
increased to approximately HK$8,078,000 (2009: HK$5,971,000).

Loss for the year

Loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 was increased
18.10% to approximately HK$33,970,000 (2009: approximately
HK$28,764,000). This was mainly due to the increase in finance cost
and the impairment loss on goodwill. The general and administrative
expenses was decreased 28.45% to approximately HK$15,317,000
due to the slow down of clock and watch business while consolidating
the coal mine business in second half of the financial year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Business segment

The performance of each of the Group’s business segment for the
year ended 31 March 2010 are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements and are summarized below:

Clocks and Other Office Related Products

This Division achieved a turnover of approximately HK$4,576,000
in the year under review (2009: approximately HK$19,105,000), it
represents a reduction of approximately HK$14,529,000 or 76% as
compared with the same period last year.

This Division reported a segment trading loss of approximately
HK$2,844,000 for the year ended 31 March 2010 representing a
decrease of approximately HK$11,580,000 or 80% from last year of
approximately HK$14,424,000.

Management Fee Income

This Division achieved a turnover of HK$5,000,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$4,000,000) and the services
contract has been completed on January 2010.

Coal Mine Business

The Division contributed a turnover of HK$86,514,000 for year
ended 31 March 2010 (2009: Nil). It was a new business segment
which generating the new source of income for the Group. The
performance of the division was deteriorated on the last quarter of
the financial year, coal price was adjusted radically on the lingering
effect of the financial tsunami as well as the sluggish economic
activities in Xinjiang region during this period. The group prudently
made an impairment loss on inventory amounting to HK$16,800,000
at the year end date in order to reflect the realizable value of
inventory while we already monitored the coal price rebounce quite
smoothly recently.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEBEFRRDT (F)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographic segments

Hong Kong and PRC (other than Hong Kong) were the major
geographical segments of the Group for the year ended 31 March

SEAB ()
mrxﬁ

BE-T-TH=
¢I@5M%Mﬁ$%l$£mﬁn@

A=t—HBLFE FEk
ZAS S

2010. Ratio analysis by geographical segments for the Group’s BEEHZE-Z—ZF=A=+—HIIFE &%
turnover for the year ended 31 March 2010 is as follows : BB IE D& D B Bl DT a0 T -
PRC (other than
Europe Hong Kong Hong Kong)
&M E HEI (B BRI
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-TF —“TTNEF ZB-%F —TTHhF ZT-BF _TThF
% % % % %
Segment turnover: DIREEE
to total turnover hEEER 1.17 30.84 5.33 42.45 93.50 26.71

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2010, the Group had:

° net current assets of approximately HK$114,852,000 (2009:
approximately HK$375,182,000).

° bank balances and cash of approximately HK$286,711,000
(2009: approximately HK$378,997,000) which were the major
components of the Group’s current assets of approximately
HK$363,530,000 (2009: approximately HK$385,820,000).

o current liabilities of approximately HK$248,678,000 (2009:
approximately HK$10,638,000) which were mainly composed
of amount due to a minority shareholder HK$28,500,000 (2009:
Nil) and convertible loan notes (liability component only) with
carrying amount of approximately HK$180,410,000 (2009: Nil).

° non-current liabilities of approximately HK$35,154,000 (2009:
approximately HK$161,871,000) which were composed of
deferred tax liability of HK$33,364,000 (2009: Nil).

Since the convertible loan notes (liability component only) was a
component of current liabilities for the year ended 31 March 2010,
the Group’s gearing ratio was greatly decreased to approximately nil
(2009: 75.83%). The computation is based on long-term borrowings
of the Group divided by shareholder’s equity before minority interests
as at 31 March 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
EEBEFRRDT (F)

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

As the financial year ended 31 March 2010, none of trade receivables
was pledged to secure the borrowing (2009: Nil), no leasehold land
and buildings or investment properties of the Group were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (2009: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS

On 3 July 2009, the Group completed the acquisition of 51% equity
interest in Star Fortune International Investment Co. Ltd., which
engages in mining, sales and distribution of coal in PRC, at an
aggregate consideration of HK$104,066,000 including legal and
professional fees directly attributable to the acquisition amounting to
approximately HK$4,066,000. The transaction has been accounted
for using the acquisition method of accounting.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
During the year ended 31 March 2010, there was no discontinuing
operation in the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in Euro, US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars. Foreign exchange exposure of the Group
is minimal so long as the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region’s policy to peg the Hong Kong dollars with
the US dollars remains unchanged. The fluctuation of Euro will be
minimal as Germany subsidiary is under liquidation.

TREASURY POLICIES
The Group generally finances its operation with internal generated
resources.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any contingent

liabilities (2009: Nil.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had 115 employees (2009: 62)
spreading among Hong Kong, the PRC and Germany. Industrial
relationship has been well maintained. The Group has adopted an
extensive training policy for its employees. It has also sponsored
senior executives for higher education programs. The Group has
adopted a share option scheme whereby certain employees of the
Group may be granted options to acquire shares of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFAEREEARGE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lo Fong Hung, aged 55, is the Chairperson and Managing
Director of the Company. Ms. Lo was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 25 March 2008. Ms. Lo also serves for
several non-listed companies, namely as the chairperson of China
International Fund Limited and as the vice chairperson of China
Sonangol International Holding Limited, China Sonangol International
Limited and Endiama China International Holding Limited and as
director of Sonangol Sinopec International Limited and New Bright
International Development Limited. Since 2004, Ms. Lo started
exploring and developing energy resources and industrial investment
in world-wide. Ms. Lo owns 30% shareholding interests in New
Bright International Development Limited, which currently holds
70% shareholding interests in China Sonangol International Limited.
China Sonangol International Limited is the holding company of
Ascent Goal Investments Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Ms. Lo is the wife of Mr. Wang Xiangfei.

Mr. Wang Xiangfei , aged 58, is an executive director of the Company
appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Wang graduated from Renmin
University of China with a bachelor degree in economics in 1982. Mr.
Wang also serves for several non-listed companies, namely as the vice
chief financial officer of Sonangol Sinopec International Limited and as
the financial advisor of China Sonangol International Holding Limited
and as an external supervisor of Shenzhen Rural Commercial Bank.
Mr. Wang is currently an independent non-executive director of China
CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, SEEC Media Group Limited and
Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Limited, companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Previously, Mr. Wang had also
served as an executive director and CEO of China Everbright
International Limited, an executive director of China Everbright Limited
and China Haidian Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Everbright
Technology Limited), a director & assistant general manager of China
Everbright Holdings Co. Limited. Mr. Wang is the husband of Ms. Lo
Fong Hung.

Mr. Kwan Man Fai, aged 41, is an executive director of the Company
appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Kwan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and a postgraduate
certificate in laws. Mr. Kwan also holds a master degree in laws from
The London School of Economics and Social Sciences, the University
of London and a master degree in the PRC law from the City University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan was a partner of Messrs. Li & Partners, a law
firm in Hong Kong from August 1999 to April 2008 and now remains
as a consultant of Messrs. Li & Partners. Mr. Kwan has over ten years
of experience in corporate finance and banking work, including assisting
various companies in their listing on the Main Board and Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
EZREREBASHE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Ka Wai, Graham, aged 42, is an independent non-executive
director of the Company appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Lam
graduated from the University of Southampton, England with a Bachelor
of Science degree in Accounting and Statistics. Mr. Lam is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lam is currently the managing director and head of corporate finance
of an investment bank and has around 16 years of experience in
investment banking as well as around 4 years of experience in
accounting and auditing. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Cheuk Nang (Holdings) Limited, Applied Development
Holdings Limited, China Fortune Group Limited, ZZNode Technologies
Company Limited, Pearl Oriental Innovation Limited and Value
Convergence Holdings Limited, companies listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange; and China Railway Logistics Limited and Finet
Group Limited, companies listed on The Growth Enterprise Market of
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond, aged 44, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr.
Wong is a member of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(CPA), a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) and holds a certificate
in financial management (CFM). Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree in
chemical engineering and a master degree in economics. Mr. Wong is
an executive director and deputy chairman of Raymond Industrial
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive director of Modern
Beauty Salon Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Fulbond Holdings Limited during the period from December
2006 to August 2009 and BEP International Holdings Limited during
the period from October 2007 to June 2009, both companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was an independent
non-executive director of Era Holdings Global Limited during the period
from August 2007 to February 2008, a company listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey, aged 41, is an independent non-executive
director of the Company appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Chan
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in
laws and a postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Chan also holds master
degrees in laws from the City University of Hong Kong and from the
People’s University of China. Mr. Chan is currently a partner of Messrs.
David Y.Y. Fung & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has extensive
experience in civil and commercial crime litigation and also handles
various transactions for corporate clients and banks in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lo Ka Wai, aged 41, is the qualified accountant and company
secretary of the Company appointed on 7 April 2008. Mr. Lo graduated
from the University of Wollongong, Australia with a bachelor degree in
commerce. Mr. Lo is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and CPA Australia. Mr. Lo has more than 18 years
of experience in financial management and corporate finance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELSWSE

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasizing on transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness. The Company has applied the principles
of the Code Provisions under the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2010 (“the year under
review”), save for the deviations from Code provision A.1.1, A.2.1
and E.1.2 as disclosed below.

THE BOARD

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
It should act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders
at all times. The Board sets strategies for the Company and monitors
the performance and activities of the senior management.

The Board currently comprises three executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. The brief biographical details of
the directors and relationship among them are set out in the section
headed “Biography of Directors and Senior Management” of this
report. The executive directors of the Company are responsible for
the day to day operations of the Company whereas the independent
non-executive directors of the Company are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of financial and management reporting to the Board
and shareholders of the Company as well as to provide a balanced
composition in the Board so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board.

For the sake of flexibility, the Board holds meeting whenever
necessary. During the year under review, the Board held five
meetings which exceeded the minimum number of board meetings
required under Code provision A.1.1, the attendance records of
individual directors are as follows:

Number of

Name of Directors meetings attended

Executive Directors:

Lo Fong Hung 3/5
(Chairperson and Managing Director)

Wang Xiangfei 5/5

Kwan Man Fai 1/5

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Wong Man Hin, Raymond 3/5
Lam Ka Wai, Graham 3/5
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey 3/5
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THE BOARD (continued)

Directors who are considered having conflict of interest or material
interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed,
would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and would abstain
from voting on the relevant resolution.

All directors of the Company have access to the Company Secretary
who attended all the scheduled Board meetings and is responsible
for ensuring that the Board procedures are being complied with,
and advising the Board on compliance matters. Each of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent non-
executive directors of the Company are independent in accordance
with the Listing Rules. Code provision A.4.1 specifies that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election. The three independent non-executive directors of the
Company appointed on 25 March 2008 have entered into service
agreements with the Company on 3 May 2008 for an initial term of 3
years with a commencement date of 25 March 2008. However, they
are still subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the Company’s bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its directors. All directors of the Company have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

During the year under review, the Company did not have any officer
with CEO title. Ms. Lo Fong Hung, the Chairperson and Managing
Director of the Company, also carried out the responsibility of
CEO during such period. In view of the size of operation of the
Group, the Board considered that this structure is more suitable
for the Company as it can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company’s strategies.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was set up in July 2005 with
specific terms of reference which include reviewing the Company’s
policy and structure on the remuneration of directors and senior
management of the Company, making recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration of the directors and senior management
of the Company and advising shareholders of the Company how to
vote with respect to any service contracts of directors that require
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of an executive
director of the Company, namely Mr. Kwan Man Fai and three
independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely
Messrs. Wong Man Hin, Raymond, Lam Ka Wai, Graham and Chan
Yiu Fai, Youdey.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting having regard to the operating results of the Company,
individual performance and prevailing market conditions. The
Company has also adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and senior management of the Group. The Board conducts
regular review of the structure and composition of the Committee
with particular attention to the skills, knowledge and experience of
individual members.

A total of one meeting has been held in the year under review and
the individual attendance of members are as follows:—

Number of

Name of members meetings attended

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman) 11
Wong Man Hin, Raymond 11
Lam Ka Wai, Graham i7al
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey i7al

ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility to
present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment relating
to annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and
other financial disclosures under the Listing Rules, and reports to
regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements. As at 31 March 2010, the directors of
the Company are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern basis.
The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Auditor’s Report on page 24 of this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2010, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited,
the auditor of the Company, the fee paid or payable to the auditor
and its affiliates provided to the Group as follows:

2T

HE-Z-ZTF=A=1+—HILFE K27
BB AEXPMN(EL) GHMEBAERA
7] - BLAASERE 2 R A S 2RED

NEBBEAT BRI
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHT
Audit services EZRE 680 440
Non-audit and taxation services IEER TS ARG 26 75
Total FEE 706 515

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility
in ensuring the Company maintains sound and effective internal
controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Company’s assets, and have conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The review
includes financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee have included the duties which are set out in the Code
provision C.3.3 of the Code, with appropriate modifications when
necessary.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive directors of the Company namely, Messrs. Wong Man Hin,
Raymond, Lam Ka Wai, Graham and Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey.

A total of two meetings have been held in the year under review and
the individual attendance of members are as follows:

Number of

Name of members meetings attended

Lam Ka Wai, Graham (Chairman) 2/2
Wong Man Hin, Raymond 2/2
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey 2/2
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee reviewed the interim and full year consolidated
financial statements, including the Group’s adopted accounting
principles and practices, internal controls, and financial reporting
matters in conjunction with the external auditor. The Audit Committee
endorsed the accounting treatment adopted by the Company
and had the best of its ability assured itself that the disclosure of
the financial information in this report complies with the applicable
accounting standards and Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, be
nominated for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship
with the Company’s shareholders, the Company has established
various channels of communications with its shareholders such
as publication of interim and annual reports, press release and
announcement of the latest development of the Company in a
timely manner. The annual general meeting provides an opportunity
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. Moreover,
resolutions are proposed at annual general meeting on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. Details of the proposed resolutions are also set out in the
circular to shareholders accompanying with the annual report.

Code provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting of the Company. Due to
other business commitment, Ms. Lo Fong Hung, the Chairperson of
the Board, was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 20 July 2009.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHRS

The directors of the Company present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
marketing of clocks and other office related products, the provision
of management services related to oil trading, and mining, sales and
distribution of coal.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

By a special resolution passed on 20 July 2009, the name of the
Company was changed from “Artfield Group Limited” to “China
Sonangol Resources Enterprise Limited” and the Company adopted
the Chinese name “ZH & REXEAEGR /AR as Chinese secondary
name of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 26 to 102. The
directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements is set out on pages
103 to 104 of the annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options are set out in notes 28 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

Details of the convertible loan notes issued by the Company
during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 11 July 2008, the Company entered into the services agreement
with China Sonangol International Limited (“China Sonangol”),
the holding company of controlling shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which the Company agree to provide, among others,
certain marketing analysis, new clipping, preparation of sales report,
invoicing and preparation of management accounts services on oil
trading to China Sonangol. The Company has agreed to provide the
services to China Sonangol for a period of 18 months, commenced
from 1 August 2008 and China Sonangol has agreed to pay to the
Company a monthly services fee of HK$500,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the management fee incomes
received were amount to HK$5,000,000. The services agreement
was expired on 31 January 2010.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agree-upon
procedures on the aforesaid continuing connected transactions.
Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company
have provided a letter to the Board confirming that the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions:

(i) had been approved by the directors of the Company;

(i)  had been entered into in accordance with the terms of the
relevant agreements governing such transaction; and

(i) had not exceeded the caps disclosed in the relevant
announcements.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and are
of the opinion that the terms of the above transactions are fair
and reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company are
concerned; in the ordinary and usual course of business and
were carried out in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-
laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 38(b) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statements of changes in equity,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2010, the Company had no retained profits available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed surplus of
HK$128,013,000 may be distributed under certain circumstances. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account with a balance of
HK$191,534,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 43% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 11%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 74% of the
total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 25%.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Lo Fong Hung (Chairperson and Managing Director)
Wang Xiangfei

Kwan Man Fai

Independent non-executive directors:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond

Lam Ka Wai, Graham

Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Messrs
Wang Xiangfei and Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey will retire by rotation and
be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 9 and 11 of the
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director of the Company proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director of the Company had a significant beneficial interest,
either direct or indirect, in any contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any its subsidiaries was a
party at any time during the year ended 31 March 2010.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2010, the interests of the directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers were as follows:

Long position
Interest in an associated corporation of the Company
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Ms. Lo Fong Hung (Note 1) New Bright International Interests of controlled 3,000 (L) 30.0%

A (K Development Limited corporation

EERRERAR AR REENEE 2

Mr. Wang Xiangfei (Note 2) ~ New Bright International Interests of controlled 3,000 (L) 30.0%

FHREE(HIFE2) Development Limited

BERIRERARAA
(L) denotes as long position

Notes:

1. Ms. Lo Fong Hung (“Ms. Lo”) is interested in 3,000 shares in New
Bright International Development Limited (“New Bright”), representing
30% of the issued share capital of New Bright, which currently owns
70% shareholding interests in China Sonangol International Limited
(“China Sonangol”). China Sonangol is the holding company of Ascent
Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”), the controlling shareholder
of the Company. The shareholding interests of Ascent Goal is set out
in the section headed “Substantial Shareholders” of this report.

2. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is the husband of Ms. Lo and is deemed to be
interested in 3,000 shares of New Bright under the SFO.

3. Ms. Lo, an executive director, owns 30% of the issued share capital of
New Bright which in turn is interested in 70% of China Sonangol. China
Sonangol is the holding company of Ascent Goal. Thus, Ms. Lo has
an attributable interest in 569,616,589 shares and a HK$200,000,000
convertible bond giving rise to an interest in 1,000,000,000 underlying
shares.

corporation
RIEHDEE 2 s

L ¥EF A

BIEE
1. BEHALE(ELZL DEFAERREREAR
R A)([ A3 ])3,000/ B fn s - 10 N EIE
CEATAAN 230% © Al¥E B AR 2 B A
HAERAB(ZPRER]) 270%5 R -
ZHER AR R AHERERERRERRAA]
([E1]R]) 2 ERAT - BRZFRERERNA
WEIEZBR]—H -

2. FARFERELLZIK  HUREES LB
B GG EAR A BE A 3,000/ BIBEAR () 2 2R ©

3. WOTEBESRLTHAABES BHITRAZ
30% @ MEBHEAE LR BEE 2 70%Es o &
FEBRAEZZERAR - At BZER
569,616,5898% 3% 17 [ & B {74 1,000,000,000
[1% A8 8 i 17 #E 5 #E % 2 200,000,000 7T A] #2
B (&5 i (RS -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EseHs ()

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2010, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
showed that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of
certain directors and chief executives, the following shareholders had
notified the Company of the relevant interests in the issued share
capital of the Company.

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company

EEREROIES ZEF

Brir & ISR ES6MIREE SN - RERE
R REE  WERBZRBHTN\FMN
TFRABHBTFEBBARRBRMNHUE
SFMERZ R - TREITRAE MR SRR : M
AR B E AP B A R R SR 2 BE
HEESAEABALMEABER ZBHNE
FHMER] o

SR RE ST 2
AR EE RS 8l 2 FIEENMR S M B R A
36 °

FERR

RZB-TF=A=+—RH FxR2AREZE
7 LI G DI £ 3361517 B = 2R A M
R BEXFREAHE TEERIBITHRA
Bz Rms  THRREMGARBRENA
RAIEBITRAZ B B

RAR BRI BARRR D 2 B

Approximate

Total percentage
number of  of the issued
Number of shares and share capital
Number of underlying underlying of the
Name of Shareholders Note Nature of interest shares held shares held shares held Company
ERAT
iEsiEl FrERD R BRTRAE
RREHE MisE RERME FEROEE ROBE HEARDER BMABESL
Ascent Goal 1,4  Beneficial owner 569,616,589 1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
aix EmEB A
China Sonangol 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589 1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
22 B corporation
RiEtEE 2 s
New Bright 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589 1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
llpE corporation
PR HEE 2
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, 3,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589 1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
Veronica corporation
o RIEHEE 2
Africa Israel Financial Assets 5 Beneficial owner 45,000,000 - 45,000,000 5.88%
and Strategies Ltd EnEEA
Africa Israel Investments Ltd 5 Interests of controlled 45,000,000 - 45,000,000 5.88%
corporation
RiEtEE 2 s
Mr. Lev Leviev 6  Beneficial owner 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 0.13%
Lev Levievit & ExnEEA
6 Interests of controlled 74,000,000 74,000,000 9.67%
corporation

IR 2 s



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EseHs ()

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

LLong positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company (continued)

Notes:

1. Ascent Goal was directly interested in 569,616,589 shares and
a further 1,000,000,000 underlying shares which may be fully
allotted and issued if the convertible bond in the principal amount
of HK$200,000,000 (the “Convertible Bond”) are converted at the
conversion price of HK$0.20. These 1,569,616,589 shares were held
by Ascent Goal directly as beneficial owner. It includes (i) interests
in 569,616,589 shares and (ii) the Convertible Bond giving rise to an
interest in 1,000,000,000 underlying shares.

2. Since Ascent Goal is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Sonangol
which is beneficially owned as to 70% by New Bright, the interests of
Ascent Goal is deemed to be the interests of China Sonangol and in
turn the interests of New Bright under the SFO.

3. Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, Veronica is deemed to have interests in the
shares and underlying shares through her 70% interests in New Bright.

4. The 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares under
the Convertible Bond represent 74.42% and 130.66% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company respectively, thus the total of
569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares represents
205.08% of the existing issued share capital of the Company. The
conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond will not be
exercised and the Company will not issue the conversion shares fif,
immediately following the conversion, the Company would be unable
to meet the public float requirement under the Listing Rules.

5. These 45,000,000 shares were held by Africa Israel Financial
Assets and Strategies Ltd, a company wholly owned by Africa Israel
Investments Ltd.

6. Mr. Lev Leviev is the beneficial owner of these 75,000,000 shares.
Among these shares, 45,000,000 shares were held by Africa Israel
Financial Assets and Strategies Ltd, a company controlled by Mr. Lev
Leviev through his 74.89% interests in Africa Israel Investments Ltd;
29,000,000 shares were held by Memorand Management (1998) Ltd,
a company controlled by Mr. Lev Leviev through his 99% interests in
Memorand Ltd; and 1,000,000 shares were held by Mr. Lev Leviev
directly.

7. The approximate percentage of shareholdings is based on
765,373,584 shares as at 31 March 2010, not the enlarged issued
share capital of the Company upon full conversion of the Convertible
Bond.

FERR(E)

A7

g
1.

YA SARRIRR (D 2 17 B ()

E1E5569,616,58908 M n R A R
I 74 7N 4 %8 4 200,000,0007% T 2 7] # % (&
F ([ HRREH |) iR 5 IR (B 0.207# T H A
A] B 2 [ fid 3 M %17 2 ¥85M,000,000,000A%
MR A E e - 3%1,569,616,589
B BEZEAEREEAEEREES 2
1 (i)P4569,616,589/% i 10 2 2z + K (i) &
1,000,000,000% FHEE AR #2522 AT IR AR & o

HRNERRZTERZ2EME AR MEF
BB EREA70% - SiRIEES LAY
Gp > BRZERERAARDER s - &
MARAR B s o

B Z L EERRIET0% R MR AYER
Bt RARRAR D 2 s o

569,616,589 % fx 1h R AT AR E A EH T 2
1,000,000,000 % 48 @8 % 15 2 B AE & AR A
AR BB EITIRA 274.42% %2 130.66%
It - 7%569,616,589/% A% 15 K 1,000,000,000/%
HEARGDERBEERARTREEETRAEZ
205.08% © {4 E2FEHIa% « NARIRAEED £
MRAZ ARIFRERTE + BT R ESH
ZABEERTITE - MARRIETIEET
AR o

#% % 45,000,000 A% & 7 B Africa Israel
Investments Ltd 2 & & A & Africa Israel
Financial Assets and Strategies Ltd#F 45 °

Lev Levievst 4 &% %575,000,0000% &1 2 &
wmEB A c RZERGH - 45,000,000 i
A ELev Levievit £ E AR 74.89% Mt 2
Africa Israel Investments LtdFfTi2 %A ] Africa
Israel Financial Assets and Strategies Ltd#F
A + 29,000,000/ % 7 RlALev Levievi R
H AR A% 2 Memorand LtdFfifz A
AMemorand Management(1998)Ltd#: 54 :
if11,000,000/% A% 15 Bll A Lev Levievst & EHEEFF
Ao

BREBANEISLDIBER-_T—ZTF=A
=+—H 27653735848 (0T & - M IER
BREBHIGAHRRESEERAR ZLEEAR
BATIRAGTHE -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
E=aRs (A)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
No director of the Company had interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules, during the
year and up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company has
complied throughout the year ended 31 March 2010 with the Code
of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save as
the deviations disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report as set
out on pages 12 to 16.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors
of the Company, over 25% of the issued share capital of the
Company was held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“SHINEWING”) had been the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010. A resolution
for the re-appointment of SHINEWING as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Lo Fong Hung
Chairperson and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 18 June 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B XBENR S

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F, The Lee Gardens

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

fakdho

8hm%0m§

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA SONANGOL RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS ARTFIELD GROUP LIMITED)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Sonangol Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
26 to 102 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
By ZHM®mE (H)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs the Group as at 31 March 2010
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P0O5044

Hong Kong
18 June 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOMEb_m.. -
FEERElaR

For the year ended 31 March 2010 2 —T—Z &= =+—H |t FE

2010 2009
—EB-FF ZTENF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 FiExT FET
Continuing operations BEREER
Turnover - 7 96,090 23,105
Cost of sales and services provided ~ $H& R AR AR 2 XA (88,012) (17,134)
Gross profit EFH 8,078 5,971
Other operating income Efbag A 2,752 5,874
Impairment loss on goodwill EmEREEE 18 (5,400) -
Net gain on deregistration of Ll EYNGIE: € R e
subsidiaries Weas %58 - 2618
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (3,164) (3,508)
Administrative expenses TRE A (15,317) (21,408)
Finance costs [ELEE NN 9 (18,756) (16,640)
Loss before tax BRI RIEE (31,807) (27,093)
Income tax (expense) credit FRiSH(F)E R 10 (2,163) 77
Loss for the year from FBICEE 2
continuing operations FREE (38,970) (27,016)
Discontinued operations RIEREEK
Loss for the year from RIS E TS 2
discontinued operations FAEE
— Trading operation —B5E% 11 - (1,748)
Loss for the year FAEE 12 (33,970) (28,764)
Other comprehensive (expense) Hib2mE (X)) WA
income
Exchange difference arising on BREBINEBEEZ
translation of overseas operation EHEEREER
and net income directly recognised T TR 2 AT
in equity 419) 10,705
Other comprehensive (expense) FREM2E(FX)
income for the year (net of tax) WA (HIBRTRIE) (419) 10,705
Total comprehensive expense for FRNZHF X B

the year (34,389) (18,059)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

FEZEWER (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2009 & —Z2—Z4=A=+—HIIFE

2009
—ETNEF

HK$’000
FET

Loss for the year attributable to: I TATEIEFAERS
— Owners of the Company —ARRAREEA (28,764)
— Minority interests — DB R _
Total comprehensive expense ITNATEERE
attributable to: FZ 4858
- Owners of the Company VNG 2SN
— Minority interests — DB R

LOSS PER SHARE - BASIC AND BREE-EXREE

DILUTED (Expressed in (BUBALZS)
Hong Kong cents)
From continuing operations REFFBIS ST
From discontinued operations KRB RIS T
From continuing and REFE R AR A F R

discontinued operations
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL -b

e MBIKRER

At 31 March 2010 R —ZE—ZTF=HA=+—H

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BfaE F#ET T
Non-current assets IEREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE N&E 16 23,626 157
Intangible assets mIPAE 17 139,168 -
Goodwill e 18 15,065 -
Security deposit REFEZRS 19 1,844 -
179,703 157
Current assets MENEE
Inventories =8 20 63,407 1,644
Deposits for acquisition of WEEN B AR RS
subsidiaries 21 - 2,000
Trade and other receivables FE WS TR B At e Y R 22 13,412 3,179
Bank balances and cash WITEFEERES 23 286,711 378,997
363,530 385,820
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables FERT B R R EoA A~ R 24 39,600 7,414
Amounts due to related companies FERRE R FIFIA 25 168 3,224
Amount due to a minority JERt—R DR ER A
shareholder 26 28,500 -
Convertible loan notes BIREEERE 27 180,410 -
248,678 10,638
Net current assets mENEEEE 114,852 375,182
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERIREAR 294,555 375,339




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

RE MR B (F)
At 31 March 2010 R=E—ZF=A=+—H

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Bi5E FET FET
Capital and reserves AR R
Share capital [N 28 76,537 76,537
Reserves i 104,860 136,931
Equity attributable to owners of RAEHEB AELER
the Company 181,397 213,468
Minority interests DEIR R 78,004 -
259,401 213,468
Non-current liabilities JEmEAE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEA 29 33,364 -
Provision for close down, restoration  B4Bf - 1E23R RIRIE
and environmental costs AN 30 1,790 -
Convertible loan notes AIBREEEE 27 - 161,871
35,154 161,871
294,555 375,339

The consolidated financial statements on pages 26 to 102 were  JIEN26E102E 2 GARBHREN -—T—F
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18  &F/Xx A+ /\BHRESESHE RIFETE - WH

June 2010 and are signed on its behalf by: NTEERRESE
Lo Fong Hung Kwan Man Fai
BIA BSCE
Chairperson Executive Director
FE HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
ko e

For the year ended 31 March 2010 & —ZT—ZTF=A=+—HILFE

Reserve and
Convertible Share enterprise  Exchange
Share Share loannotes  options Capital ~ expansion translation ~Accumulated Minority
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve funds reserve losses Total interests Total
TRREER RERLE SRR

Bx  RBEE RAGE BREEE ETERE  BRER  ENGR  ROER g i 48
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKGOOD  HKSOOO  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKS'000

TEn  TRRL  TET TR  TEr  TEn  TEr TR TET  TEr  TEn

(Note)
(MzE)
At 31 March 2008 RZBENE
Zf=t-8 76,037 191,634 55,495 726 36,053 2424 9061)  (19547) 234,161 - 234,161
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (28764 (28764) - (28764
Other comprehensive income ~ EREMZERA
for the year - - - - - - 10,705 - 10,705 - 10,705
Total comprehensive income ~~ FRZEMA
(expense) for the year (%) 28 - - - - - - 10705 (8764 (18,059) - (18059
Cancellation of share options ~~ FHERFES
granted to directors LB - - - (726) - - - 726 - - -
Deregistration of subsidiaries B AR H M - - - - - - (2,618) - (2,618) - (2618)
Reserves realised upon disposal  EHB A7)k
of subsidiaries SR Gk - - - S AN B S (16) 22,966 (16) - (16)
At31 March 2009 RZTENE
Zf=t-8 76,037 191,634 55,495 - 14,882 629 (990) (124619 213468 - 213468
Loss forthe year EREE - - - - - - - U9 B89 s (3970
Other comprehensive expense  EREMAERE
forthe year - - - - - - 82) - 282) (137) (419
o Total comprehensive expense  ERZ AR R A
§ forthe year - - - - - - P8 BIT8Y @07 39 (34389
= Addition on acquisiion of WENBLAE
=)
IS subsidieries WE - - - - - - - - - 80,322 80,322
<
3 Transfer ftd - - - - - 4,725 - (4,725) - - -
E
.}
_g - - - - - 4725 - (4,725) - 80,322 80,322
15
i .
2 At31 March 2010 RIZ-3%
e SETH-8 5 19154 554% S8R BB (1272 (6113Y 181307 78004 259401
S Note: Inaccordance with the Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC”) regulations, MIsT : R E A RSB ([RE]DRG - NEBFT
= all of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer part of BEFEZHBATEERD KR T
05) their profit after tax to the reserve and enterprise expansion funds, which BB RN ERE N DR 2 FEE N ERE
@ are non-distributable, before profit distributions are made. The amounts BES SRS EACHAZRSEARAZESER
5 of the transfers are subject to the approval of the boards of directors of FREL /R TR AR A= B o

these companies in accordance with their articles of association.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 2 —E—ZTF=HA=+—HI-FE

2010 2009
—ZT-ZTF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THT FiT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REER
Loss before tax B A& IS (31,807) (27,093)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations RIS ¥ 2 BT REE - (1,748)
(31,807) (28,841)
Adjustments for : BLTRAIE B EFEE -
Net reversal of allowance for doubtful debts of RN E R BERD
trade receivables SFEB (553) -
Bad debts directly written off HEMER = 3,728
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y  BEREEBEZITE 1,677 453
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEESE 3,201 -
Finance costs BB AR 18,756 16,640
Impairment loss on goodwill B 2 RERE 5,400 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 IS - ©)]
Wavier of long outstanding trade payables BeRIKERENER - (4,162)
Net gain on deregistration of subsidiaries {N)ESNGIE S i kR alivd
W F 5 = (2,618)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BEREHEZ
plant and equipment 18 100 3
Interest income FBUA (120) (1,230)
Write down of inventories WoREs 16,800 264
Operating cash flow before movements in LEECEHR ILE
working capital BERe 13,454 (15,766)
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEOEMm RS (8,266) 1,328
Decrease in trade and other receivables R LS B R e L At PR LS IR R 18,399 18,996
Decrease in trade and other payables e 8 5k N EAth FE A SRR A (25,074) (8,360)
Decrease in provision BHERD (4,816) -
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to T B A R RIE
related companies (A )3 hn (3,056) 194
Cash used in operations REEBMARS (9,359) (3,608)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refund BEREIEEFIGH = 224
Overseas taxes refund BIREIEINRIE = 2
Overseas tax paid DAECEINEIE (5,029) (65)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES && XK AR S FHE (14,388) (3,447)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
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2010 2009
—E-FfF —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
s FET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEYK
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of UGB M8 A &) (FIBRFTEEA 31
cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEFEEEE)
acquired) (69,605) -
Additions of property, plant and RNEVE - BE KRB
equipment (6,447) (66)
Increase in security deposit REBEL SN (1,844) -
Interest received BUFIE 120 1,230
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME  BEN
plant and equipment R TS EA 30 35
Deposits paid for acquisition of WM B AR AT IR
subsidiaries - (2,000)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBAREFE
ACTIVITIES (77,746) (801)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEXEL
Interest paid BEASFIE (217) 6)
Repayment of bank loan EEIRITER = (3,644)
Repayment of obligations under BEMERSAE
finance leases = )
Advance from related companies 2R NEIEEN - 2,770
New bank loans raised FIBRITER = 1,365
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REXEL (A RERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES =] (217) 482
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRBEEEEREARZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS W RE (92,351) (3,766)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FPZBEER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR REe%EER 378,997 382,708
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ER# &~
RATE CHANGES -7 65 55
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBER
AT END OF YEAR, ReZEER
represented by bank balances AR RIRTEELR S
and cash 286,711 378,997
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GENERAL

China Sonangol Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group’s parent
company is Ascent Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”)
and the Group’s ultimate holding company is China Sonangol
International Limited (“China Sonangol”), both are companies
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are marketing of clocks and other office related
products, provision of management services related to oil
trading, and mining, sales and distribution of coal.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the annual general
meeting held on 20 July 2009, the name of the Company
was changed from Artfield Group Limited to China Sonangol
Resources Enterprise Limited and ZH & RE X AR A A
was adopted as Chinese secondary name of the Company.
The certificate of incorporation on change of name and
the certificate of secondary name have been issued by the
Registrar of Companies in Bermuda and the name change
took into effect on 21 July 2009.
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AN A fArtfield Group Limited3 %75
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of
new and revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Hong Kong Accounting Standard Presentation of Financial

(“HKAS”) 1 (Revised 2007) Statements
HKAS 23 (Revised 2007) Borrowing Costs
HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments) Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a
(Amendments) Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations
HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
HK(IFRIC)-Interpretation (“Int”) 9 Embedded Derivatives
& HKAS 39 (Amendments)
HK(FRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
HK(FRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate
HK(FRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation
HK(FRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from
Customers
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs Issued

in 2008, except for the
amendment to HKFRS 5 that is
effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009 in relation to the
amendment to paragraph 80 of
HKAS 39

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs had no material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the current or prior
accounting periods.

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements
HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes

(including revised titles for the financial statements) and
changes in the format and content of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has not resulted in a
redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments but changed
the basis of measurement of segment profit or loss, segment
assets and segment liabilities as compared with the primary
reportable segments determined in accordance with HKAS 14
Segment Reporting (see Note 8).

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

RAFE REBTEBUBRE
ZR([ERMBHREER ) (50

BAMBRELAFESFRLLE DT
BEYBRELRNFR R —AWELE
A WESHASEASHET L2
Bl BERBEEBEHERNF145%
DR ETEE 2 T 2R 2 MO AL
ZERIWE DR REE - DREE
RoBRaEzEEE(RKES) -

1
NG

AREEY EEZF A T 72 R/ME E AR

standards, amendments or interpretations that have been

issued but are not effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 9

HK (IFRIC)-INT 14 (Amendment)

K (IFRIC)-INT 17

K (IFRIC)-INT 19

Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs Issued
in 2009”

Improvements to HKFRSs Issued
in 2010°

Related Party Disclosures’

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements'
Classification of Rights Issues’

Eligible Hedge Items'
First-time Adoption of HKFRSs'

Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters®

Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time
Adopters®

Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions’

Business Combination’

Financial Instruments”
Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement’

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to
Owners'

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instuments®
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010 as appropriate.

Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2010 and 1 January 2011 as appropriate.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2010.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised)
will affect the accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The standard requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows and (i) have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost. All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 might
affect the classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs(2009), HKAS
17 Leases has been amended in relation to the classification
of leasehold land. The amendments will be effective from 1
January 2010, with earlier application permitted. Before the
amendments to HKAS 17, leases were required to classify
leasehold land as operating leases and presented as prepaid
lease payments in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The amendments have removed such a requirement.
Instead, the amendments require the classification of leasehold
land to be based on the general principles set out in HKAS
17, that are based on the extent to which risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie with the lessor or
the lessee. The application of the amendments to HKAS 17
might affect the classification and measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

(@)  Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the
original business combination and the minority’s share
of changes in equity since the date of the combination.
Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the
minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent
that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to
make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after
reassessment, the Group's interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination,
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority's proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(©)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in the profit or loss. An impairment loss for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of financial position at cost less
any identified impairment loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
below).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately (continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.

Patents and trademarks

Cost incurred on the acquisition of patents and trademarks
are capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and are amortised by equal annual instalments
over the estimated useful life of five years. Patents and
trademarks are not revalued as there is no active market
for these assets.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their
fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such
intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets below).

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are
amortised on the units of production method utilising only
proven and probable coal reserves in the depletion base.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search
for mineral resources, the determination of technical
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of
an identified resource.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(®

Exploration and evaluation expenditure (continued)
Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises costs
which are directly attributable to:

- research and analysing historical exploration data;

- gathering exploration data through topographical,
geographical and geophysical studies;

- exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;

- determining and examining the volume and grade
of the resource;

- surveying transportation and infrastructure
requirements; and

conducting market and finance studies

Expenditure during the initial exploration stage of
a project is charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of
acquiring licenses, are capitalised as exploration and
evaluation assets on a project-by-project basis pending
determination of the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of the project.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that a mining
property is capable of commercial production, exploration
and evaluation costs are transferred to mining rights and
are amortised based on the accounting policy as stated
in “Mining rights” above. If any project is abandoned
during the evaluation stage, the total expenditure thereon
will be written off.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and
building held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes are stated
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value
of items of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 2 —T—ZF=H=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

9

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in the profit or loss in the year in which the item is
dereognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans
and receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. At the end of each reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and others receivables and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses. (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of reporting period. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For all the Group’s financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 2 —T—ZF=H=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the credit period, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade and other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are
classified as other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amounts due to related companies and
amount due to a minority shareholder are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is
included in equity (convertible loan notes reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 2 —T—ZF=H=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible loan notes (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible loan notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible loan notes reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
convertible loan notes reserve will be transferred to share
premium). Where the option remains unexercised at the
expiry date, the balance stated in convertible loan notes
reserve will be released to accumulated losses. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transactions costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly
in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation.
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).

Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence
caused by the resettlement of the land at the mining
sites. Depending on the circumstances, the Group
may relocate inhabitants from the mining sites prior
to conducting mining activities or the Group may
compensate the inhabitants for losses or damage from
close down and land subsidence after the sites have
been mined. The Group may also be required to make
payments for restoration, rehabilitation or environmental
protection of the land after the sites have been mined.

Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling
and demolition of infrastructure and the removal of
residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas.
Close down and restoration costs are provided in the
accounting period when the obligation arising from the
related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs during
mine development or during the production phase, based
on the net present value of estimated future costs. Where
there is a change in the expected decommissioning and
restoration costs, an adjustment is recorded against the
carrying value of the provision and related assets, and the
effect is then recognised in the income statement on a
prospective basis over the remaining life of the operation.
Provision for close down and restoration costs do not
include any additional obligations which are expected
to arise from future disturbance. The cost estimates are
reviewed and revised at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 2 —T—ZF=H=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. In addition, intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title has passed.

Revenue from provision of management services is
recognised when the services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Equity settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees of
the Company

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes statement of comprehensive income items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M mRERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the re-
translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income accumulated
in equity (the exchange translation reserve). Such
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FE@HBE®E)
(o)  Leasing (continued) ) HMEE)
The Group as lessee AEBEREBRA

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally
treated as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the
lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests
in land are accounted for as operating leases and
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(g Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as and included
in finance costs in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they are
incurred.

(n Retirement benefit costs
Payments to state-managed retirement benefits scheme
and the defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are charged as an expense when the employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers and adjust credit limits based on payment history
and the customer’s current credit-worthiness, as determined
by the review of their current credit information. The Group
continuously monitors collections and payments from its
customers and maintains a provision for estimated credit
losses based upon its historical experience and any specific
customer collection issues that it has been identified. In
addition, the Group will provide general provision based on
the aging analysis of the trade debtors. Credit losses have
historically been within the Group’s expectations and the
Group will continue to monitor the collections from customers
and maintain an appropriate level of estimated credit losses.

Write down of inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis of
inventories at the end of each reporting period, and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer suitable for use in production or
sales. The management estimates the net realisable value for
such raw materials and finished goods based primarily on the
latest invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group
carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis
at the end of each reporting period and makes allowance
for obsolete items. During the year ended 31 March 2010,
the Group recognised an impairment loss of approximately
HK$16,800,000 (2009: HK$264,000) in respect of raw
materials and finished goods to write-down the inventories to
its net realisable value.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Carrying value of non-current assets and impairment of
assets

Non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets, are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortisation and impairment losses,
where appropriate. These carrying amounts are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In estimating the recoverable
amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future
cash flows to be associated with the non-current assets and
discount rates, are made. If future events do not correspond
to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to be
revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s results of
operations or financial position.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired required an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 March 2010, the carrying amount
of goodwill was approximately HK$15,065,000, net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$5,400,000 (2009: Nil).
Details of impairment test on goodwill are set out in note 18.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor
actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Reserve estimates

Reserves are estimates of the amount of products that can
be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s
coal reserves. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. Estimating the
quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and
depth of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may
require complex and difficult geological judgments and
calculations to interpret the data.

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves
change from period to period, and because additional
geological data is generated during the course of operations,
estimates of reserves may change from period to period.
Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial
results and financial position in a number of ways, including the
following:

(i) Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in
estimated future cash flows.

(i)  Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in the
statement of comprehensive income may change where
such charges are determined by the units of production
basis, or where the useful economic lives of assets
change.

(i)  Decommissioning, site restoration and environmental
provisions may change where changes in estimated
reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of
these activities.

(iv)  The carrying value of deferred tax may change as a result
of changes in the asset carrying values as discussed
above.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income tax

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
In addition, the realisation of the future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group’s ability to generate sufficient taxable
income in future years to utilise income tax benefits and income
tax loss carried forward. Deviations of future profitability from
estimates or in the income tax rate would result in adjustments
to the value of future deferred tax assets and liabilities that
could have a significant effect on earnings.

Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs is determined by management based on their past
experience and best estimation of future expenditures, after
taking into account existing relevant PRC regulations. However,
in so far as the effect on the land and the environment from
current mining activities becomes apparent in future years, the
estimate of the associated costs may be subject to revision
from time to time. Details of the Group’s provision for close
down, restoration and environmental costs are set out in Note
30.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes convertible loan notes disclosed in note 27, cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the associated risks, and take
appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure. The
overall strategy of the Group remained unchanged during the
two years ended 31 March 2010.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Ba. Categories of financial instruments
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6a. SRt THEER

2010 2009
—E-FfF —TThEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET

Loans and receivables (including cash Ezt & EWFIE (B IEIR &
and cash equivalents) MReEEIEE) 301,935 382,108
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ $ZE kANt E 2 S RIEE 248,678 172,509

Bb. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
security deposit, trade and other receivables, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, amounts
due to related companies, amount due to a minority
shareholder and convertible loan notes. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Certain trade receivables, bank balances and cash
and trade payables of the Group are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the group
entity to which they relate.
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6.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table shows the Group’s exposure
at the end of reporting date to currency risk arising
from transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the function
currency of the entity to which they relate.

As at 31 March 2010

6.

SBMIA®
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As at 31 March 2009

R-Z—ZF —ETNEF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
United
States
Euro Dollars
(“EUR”) (“USD”) EUR usD
B EYn BT eV
’000 ’000 '000 '000
T T T T
Assets BE 2 43 4 34
Liabilities aE 29 18 29 144
Sensitivity analysis BURRE T

The Group is mainly exposed to the currencies of EUR
and USD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2009: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
the relevant foreign currencies and other variables were
held constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5%
(2009: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in loss where HK$
strengthen 5% (2009: 5%) against the relevant currency.
For a 5% weakening of HK$ against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the loss, and the balances below would be negative.
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B EJ0
2010 2009 2010 2009
—%-%F -IIAF —R-¥F 3TN
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FEIL TR FET
Profit or loss R (14) (13) (10) (43)
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

ob.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group was exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
relates to bank balances and security deposit carried
at prevailing market rate. The Group has not used any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. The Group has not formulated a policy to manage
the interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below had been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of reporting period. For variable-
rate bank borrowings, the analysis was prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 March 2010 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$1,434,000 (2009:
HK$1,895,000). This was mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank balances.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. For non-derivatives financial
liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
meBRRME (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. SRTHA®
6b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 6b. HISEKEIREEMBER(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REESRAME(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables HEE 2 KB ERESF
More than
Within 1 year but Total Carrying
1 year or less than undiscounted amount at
on demand 2years  cash flows 31 March

»

—FRH BE-F  AMRREE ZA=t-H
EER  BIRWE REAR ZSREME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AL FAEL AL FAEL
2010 “Z-Z%
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FfT££mAE
Trade and other payables R EFR A REMNFE 39,600 - 39,600 39,600
Amounts due to related companies  E{EIE LN BIZUE 168 - 168 168
Amount due to a minority shareholder e —& D&k E 8 28,7117 - 28,7117 28,500
Convertible loan notes EREEZE 200,000 - 200,000 180,410
268,485 - 268,485 248,678
2009 —ETNE
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FfT£&mAE
Trade and other payables JEAT S T e ot FE < 500R 7,414 - 7,414 7,414
Amounts due to related companies  E{EIE LN BZUE 3,224 - 3,224 3,224
Convertible loan notes EREEEE - 200,000 200,000 161,871
10,638 200,000 210,638 172,509
Credit risk EERE
As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s maximum exposure RZE—ZTF=A=+—H EH
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the FHAEBITEAMEBAELEES
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the ZUBEE A AEERSEERR
counterparties was the carrying amount of the respective TIRERE B SRR RS SIEE
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated ReMEERABEMESE °

statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

ob.

6C.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC which accounted for
approximately 99% (2009: 14%) of the total trade and
other receivables as at 31 March 2010.

Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

° the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively; and

° the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices or rates from
observable current market transactions and dealer
quotes for similar instruments.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values due to their
short-term maturities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

TURNOVER

Turnover represents the net amounts received and receivable
for goods sold by the Group to outside customers, less returns
and discounts allowed and provision of management services.
An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year, for both
continuing and discontinued operations is as follows:

E S

BEBEASEHEEERTHINEPR
ERE RITMEEER AR E R RS
ZBEW R ELCFEE - FARKENTE
R \HEERB T ERBANIT

2010 2009
—Z=—-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations SIE R ERE

Sales and distribution of coal THE RO IR 86,514 -

Sales of clocks and other office related HERE K H I A =HERE
products = 4,576 19,105
Management fee income BEIEBUA 5,000 4,000
96,090 23,105

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard
that requires operating segments to be identified on the basis
of internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing
their performance. The application of HKFRS 8 has not
resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments
as compared with the primary reportable segments determined
in accordance with HKAS 14. Nor has the adoption of HKFRS
8 changed the basis of measurement of segment profit or
loss. The chief operating decision makers of the Group have
been identified as the executive directors of the Company (the
“Executive Directors”).

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
internal reports reviewed by the Executive Directors that are
used to make strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
me M BRRME (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
The Group currently organises its operations into three
reportable operating segments, namely marketing of clocks
and other office related accessories, provision of management
services, and the coal mine business. The principal activities of
the reportable segments are as follows:

(@ the clocks and other office related products segment
engages in the marketing of clocks and other office
related accessories;

(b) the provision of management services related to oil
trading; and

(c)  the coal mine business segment engages in mining, sales
and distribution of coal.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company ceased
the operation of trading of metals. Accordingly, the business
segment of trading of metals was classified as discontinued
operation during the year ended 31 March 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FEMBEREMTE (&) e
For the year ended 31 March 2010 &2 —E—TF = A=+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. ZoEE®®

()  Segment revenue and results @ PEMERES
The following tables present turnover, results and certain TEREINAEEEBR O E &
asset, liability and expenditure information for the Group’s B RERETEE  BEERRAX
business segments. ERf e
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-Z-ZEF=A=+—-HLHF
E

SEGMENT TURNOVER: DEEER !

Sales to external customers HETHINEF
SEGMENT RESULTS DEEE

Interest income FISWA

Net unallocated expenses Rcln L HFR
Finance costs RARK

Loss before tax (from continuing RABELEEL Y
operations) BREATEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
me M BRRME (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. 7PEER®
(@  Segment revenue and results (continued) @ EWMEREEE)
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-_ZEZENE=ZA=+—HLE
B
Continuing operations
Clocks and

other office  Provision of
related  management Coal mine

products services business Total
g R
HiBAE it
THEER ERRS REER et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAL TAL THET TBT

SEGMENT TURNOVER: DEEEE.

Sales to external customers BETHINEP 19,105 4,000 - 23,105
SEGMENT RESULTS PEEE (14,424 3,633 - (10,791)
Interest income FEUWA 1,230
Net unallocated expenses REED 2T HFE (892)
Finance costs BEMAK (16,640)

Loss before tax (from continuing REHEREERY

operations) BIRRIER (27,093)
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are AIE D 2 ST HER A S B R
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described MiEE3pTat & 5T BRAER - DR
in note 3. Segment result represents the profit earned BIEARES P RITHAAR - EEM
by/loss from each segment without allocation of central & FILBA RBVE PN ANFT &5 58
administration costs, directors’ emoluments, interest FRERER 2 i M Sk FTesis < 518 - it
income and finance costs. This is the measure reported Tt ERD B MR ERMITE
to the Executive Directors for the purposes of resource EREZTE

allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RRME (8
I;ﬁor the year ended 31 March 2010 {2 —E—ZF = =+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. oEE®®

(a)  Segment revenue and results (continued) @ EWMEREEE)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-—E-EBE=-A=+-—HiItE
E

ASSETS BE

Segment assets NEEE
Unallocated assets RecBH AE
Total assets BEE
LIABILITIES B

Segment liabilities HERE
Unallocated liabilities Rec#n a8k
Total liabilities Fy=U

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION:  Eft28EEH
Amounts included in the measure SADERFH

of segment profit or loss or BRI BAE
segment assets: GEZRE:

Additions to property, plant and RENE  BER
equipment (Note) BGIGR))

Depreciation and amortisation RERESH

Net reversal of allowance for doubtful - el EFREREL
debts of trade receivables el

Write down of inventories FEMR

Loss on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE - BER
and equipment SEER

Amounts regularly provided tothe  EHMT ELLHR%E
chief operating decision maker but ~ #E4HBI &t A
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not included in the measure o anilen
of segment profit or loss: BETE T
Interest income MEHA
Interest expense MER%
Income tax expense FriSHEY
Note: The amount excluded the property, plant and equipment Wi 2B eIEABWENBAT

acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries. FTEEAZ Y% - BB MRS -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
meBRRME (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. AEEHRE)
(@  Segment revenue and results (continued) @ EWMEREEE)
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-_ZEZAFE=A=1+—HLEF
E
Continuing operations
HELEER
Clocks and
other office  Provision of
related  management
products services  Unallocated Total
FER
Hi Rz 1R
H#EER EERG K@D fatk]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THET THT THL
ASSETS EE
Segment assets SREE 5,057 - 5,057
Unallocated assets BRSO VEE 380,920
Total assets BEE 385,977
LIABILITIES afE
Segment liabilities SHEE 10,205 - 10,205
Unallocated liabilities P2 oA=L 162,304
Total liabilities BeE 172,509
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION:  Hftt 98 & %
Amounts included in the measure st AP B FS BB
of segment profit or loss or PEBEBIR
segment assets:
Additions to property, plant and RNEWE - R K%
equipment 66 - 66
Depreciation and amortisation WENEH 453 - 453
Bad debts directly written off EEMEER 3,728 - 3,728
Write down of inventories FEMR 264 - 264
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BEK
plant and equipment SEzEE 3 - 3
Waiver of long outstanding trade NERBREEENER o
payables (4,162) - (4,162) &
#
Amounts regularly provided to the ~ SEERA F BR&RFE LR "(E
chief operating decision maker Bl AN R =
but not included in the measure FlRHEzeE: ﬁ
of segment profit or loss: Eﬂ\:‘
Interest income FEKA 9 - (1.221) (1,230 &
Interest expense FER% 16,634 - 6 16,640 &
Income tax credit FrigfiEs (77) - - (77)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
mEmBmMAMTE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 i Z - &

—EF=A=tHLFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@)

S

TR ()

Segment revenue and results (continued) (@) ﬁ)iwé(fm&aa“ &
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances ﬁ%@ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁé%ﬁiﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂ
and allocating resources between segments: &R
- all assets are allocated to reportable segments —  BRIRTEEMESULRE
other than bank balances and cash and security BeHN MBEESEET
deposit. Assets used jointly by reportable segments MEDEE - IREDEHR
are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned fiﬁﬁzé‘?&il%lﬁ#ﬁi’“
by individual reportable segments; and FEPTIR A R 2 DR
53
- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments - BRECHESE - BH &
other than deferred tax liabilities, provision for 2R RIRIBA AN B DA R Al 32
close down, restoration and environmental costs, REEREN IBEEES
and convertible loan notes. Liabilities for which BLZE A ED R o ATMED
reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated BHAEREZ BRI EE
in proportion to segment assets. ELfIn
Geographical information (b) HE@EEFR
The following table presents turnover and certain TRV ANEFIZIBRMES D 2
assets and expenditure information for the Group by EEBURETEERFAZER -
geographical location.
PRC (other than
Europe Hong Kong Hong Kong) Total
vl B TE(FEEER) EE]
2010 2009 2010 2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-%F  _IINF ZB-3F “3-3F CITNF BB CIINE
HK$'000 HK$000 ~ HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 ~ HKS$'000 HK$'000
TR Thn TEn TEn T Tn T
Sales to extenal HETHIER
customers 1,123 7,125 5119 89,848 6,172 96,090 23,106
Non-current assets FREE - - - 179,708 148 179,703 157
Information about major customers EHRETERFZER

For the year ended 31 March 2010, a single customer
of the coal mine business of the Group with revenue
contributed to the Group amounting to approximately
HK$10,670,000 had individually accounted for over 10%
of the Group’s total revenue. The customer is a new
customer to the Group for the year ended 31 March
2010.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, there was no
individual customer contributed more than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group.

REE-T-—THF=A=+—AL
FE AEEBEREESZE—RP
AN 5 B 0 %5 & 8§ 4910,670,000
T - (ERIE A S B A8 Y25 10% A
- REE_Z—ZTF=A=1—
BLEFE  ZBFAREEZHE
}Eo

REBE_ZZENF=A=+—HI
FE - BEENEPIEARELK
@ 10% A Lk o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BMERAK
Continuing operations
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FT
Interest expenses on: FIEFAX
— bank borrowings wholly repayable —AREFABEEEL
within five years RITIEE = 6
—amount due to a minority shareholder — JEN — & D BURER FIE 217 -
— effective interest expenses on —ARRIEEEE 2 B
convertible loan notes (Note 27) FLEFS (MFE27) 18,539 16,634
18,756 16,640
10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT 10. FIBR(BAX)ER
Continuing operations
BESEER
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZEThEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FiT
The charge (credit) comprises: B H(ER)BE
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEMEH
— current year —ARFE = -
— over-provision in prior years — BT REERE = (99)
Tax in other jurisdictions Efth RLARER 2 TR 18
— current year —REE 2,671 -
— under-provision in prior years —BEFERETR = 22
2,671 77)
Deferred tax (Note 29) EAER A (MY 3E29) (508) -
2,163 (77)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

RE SRR MEE (M)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT (continued)

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profit tax rate
from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
2008/2009. Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements as there was no
estimated assessable profit derived from Hong Kong for both
years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008 onwards.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the laws and regulations in the PRC, one of
the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC is entitled to
exemption from PRC income tax in the first two years from the
first profit-making year, followed by a 50% reduction of PRC
income tax for the following three years.

The tax charges (credit) for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

Fﬁ *E(F#EJS'Z)?EE%’“\
SENFRNAZ+RE - BELE
E@ﬂfj TNFRANGHER - B

BIFIERBMEH17.5%FABE16.5%
B-ZTT N/ _ZETNFIRFERLE

B mREE-_T—ZTF=A=+—H
F_ETZAE=A=1+—BILtREEE
W ER 8 BB 2 s ERFEF - &
W ER AT ERERREBFEHIED
B o

BiETEAREMBEAZRESTE( 0
ERRBRE]) R EMEREAZ BHEE
Bl B—ZTZTN\FE—F—HIE - PEH
BRI 2T AE25% o

E"E@ﬂ}ﬂéliiZEZﬁIE?Eﬁ%% abx
R BAREAE

RIBPBIZERRD] - REBERHEL
BZHD-HMBAR A HEEEF
FERFEMFRIERRHNPBEMG
B HE=FZREPEHAIRY

AREFRAXIH (BER)XHEGE2E
W R BBATER 2 BRI T

2010 2009
—Z-ZF —ETNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FiIT
Loss before tax (from continuing operations) &G E& & %K 2
MBATEE (31,807) (27,093)
Tax at domestic income tax rate of 16.5% A& FT15Fi 5 £ 16.5%
(2009: 16.5%) (ZZEZNF 1 16.5%)
HE o FIA (5,248) (4,470)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TMEH 2 B 2 Bl 5o 28
for tax purposes 4,848 4,469
Tax effect of income not taxable BERB WA 2RI E
for tax purpose (36) (1,109
Utilisation of deductible temporary difference &8 A FER 2 AT 15T
previously not recognised TR = (15)
Tax effect of other deductible temporary RAER 2 HoAth A] O T B
differences and tax losses not recognised  ZXE L FIAEB 2 MG HE 2,755 1,261
Over-provision in prior years BT E RS = (77)
Effect of different tax rates of REAM A ERE R AL E
subsidiaries operating in other MR BRI R 2 52
jurisdictions (156) (136)
Tax expense (credit) for the year RECEEBRE
relating to continuing operations FAHREFAS ER) 2,163 (77)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 11, RIEREEK
Discontinued operation of trading of metal SEES 2RI KEETK
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group ceased BHE-_ZTNF=A=+—HIFE
the operation of trading of metals. This was regarded as a AEERIFECECBEHHEK - ILIEHE
discontinued operation and accordingly, the consolidated BB ARIEEER  BZERFEA
results and cash flows of the operation for the year were as ZIRAEBEREERRENT ¢
follows:
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Turnover e = -
Administrative expenses THRER = (1,748)
Loss for the year FREE - (1,748)
Loss for the year from discontinued RER IS EEE 2
operation includes the following: FAFBBRIEUATIEE -
Net exchange loss FE 5 518 548 = 2
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the segment of trading HE_ZTTNF=A=T—HILFE "
of metal contributed approximately HK$3,194,000 to the cBEHHNERAEE EERS R
Group’s net operating cash outflows, and paid approximately SHEIE ER493,194,000/8 7T » WHRBLE ¥
HK$3,200,000 in respect of financing activities. 77 H X f11493,200,0008 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
e M mRERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. FAEE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting): FEXNEEEINBGTA) T&IE

Continuing operations

BESEER
2010 2009
—Z-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FT
Cost of inventories sold HETFEZRAE 88,012 17,134
Staff costs (excluding directors’ B TITRRA(EEIE (FIEE15)
remuneration (Note 15)): BRAN) -
Basic salaries and allowances BEARF S REM 6,568 7,364
Retirement benefits scheme contributions  RRIEFEH 2145 196 234
6,764 7,598
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BERRE TS
equipment 1,677 453
Amortisation of intangible assets BILEE B
(included in cost of sales) (FHASHERAR) 3,201 -
Net reversal of allowance for doubtful debts fEUE 2 FARE &~
of trade receivables (included in other e EpEE
operating income) (FFAE AR U A) (553) -
Auditor’s remuneration IZERAR BN & 680 550
Bad debts directly written off (included in BEEMEER
administrative expenses) (FFATTHER) = 3,728
Operating leases charges on rented EBRHEMHEZ
premises KEREEMA 1,852 879
Net exchange loss & 5 1R E 1,318 4,985
Write down of inventories (included in TFEMOR
cost of sales) (FHASEERA) 16,800 264
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERE ARz IS = )
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BEX
and equipment B PA 100 3
Waiver of long outstanding trade payables A% & HiR (Eig BT &% = (4,162)
Interest income A EUA (120) (1,230)
13. DIVIDEND 13. BRE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 REEz—E—TF=-A=+—HItFE
March 2010, nor has any dividend been proposed since the A EE SR ES RS MERE
end of the reporting period (2009: Nil). HIRE R AR M E RS R TR E (=

TTNF E) -
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14. LOSS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED 14. BREBE EXAREE
From continuing and discontinued operations REFBERRICEERS
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share NATHEE ANEEERNGRRERNL#E
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is based EERIIRE 75 SugstE

on the following data:

2010 2009
—E-2F ZEETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss BB
Loss for the year attributable to the owners XA & H A
of the Company EIEFEAEE 31,789 28,764
2010 2009
—E-EF ZEENF
Number of shares RHEE
Weighted average number of ordinary AU ESREREE 2
shares for the purpose of basic loss AR INAE 8K
per share 765,373,584 765,373,584
From continuing operations REFECEER
The calculation of the basic loss per share from continuing RARIEBANELEREBESEEZ
operations attributable to owners of the Company for the year is ERNFREREETIRE T EIETE -
based on the following data:
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZEThEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners KAEHE ABRFABE
of the Company (31,789) (28,764)
Less: Loss for the year from discontinued & : &N A EHEHB AFEIE K G
operations attributable to owners BRI EBFAEE
of the Company (note 11) (BF&E11) - (1,748) o
=
b
Loss for the year for the purpose of RUGTEREBBEEE XS 2 &
basic loss per share from continuing BRENEE 2 FAEE "2
operations (31,789) (27,016) =
3K
&
The denominators used are the same as those detailed above PRS- arat 2 SRR A AR 1B AT o
for basic loss per share. B 5 EHEE - K
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(continued)

From discontinued operation

Basic loss per share for discontinued operations was HK0.23
cents per share in year 2009, based on the loss for the year
from the discontinued operations attributable to the owners
of the Company of approximately HK$1,748,000 in year 2009
and the denominators detailed above for basic loss per share.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2010 do not assume the conversion of the convertible
loan notes since its conversion would result in a decrease in
loss per share. The basic and diluted loss per share are the
same.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2009 do not assume the exercise of the outstanding
share options and the conversion of the convertible loan notes
since their exercise and conversion would result in a decrease
in loss per share. The basic and diluted loss per share are the
same.

14. LOSS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED 14. SREE—EXKEE @)

KERIHEERY
RZFFNFRIELERB 2 BBER
BERAER0.23BL - TIREARE
BARGRAREEERBZ _TTN
FERNEIEL1,748,0008 T H - D
FHEEXAFRSRERNEER DA
A o

mHREBRABRIEERESEHERE
BRL #HEAEBRE_ZT-TF=A
=+ AEFEEREEE R AR
REEES - SRERREEEEER -

B R T8 m R TR B AR M S S R AT 4 Y
EEZBEEERERERD - Wit
HBEZ-ZTNF=A=1T—HIFE
BREEEERTBRIBATERE
B o BREARREEEEMER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FEMBEREMTE () _ nE
For the year ended 31 March 2010 i Z2 —E—TF = A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 15. EERSREEAEMS
EMOLUMENTS

(a)  Directors’ emoluments @ EFB2
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2009: BERNHENERE(ZETNF
twelve) directors were as follows: 12%8)8F2MenmT :
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE_Z-ZF=A=+—HLHTF
E

Executive directors: HiTES:

Lo Fong Hung BHi

Wang Xiangfei FAR

Kwan Man Fai e
Independent non-executive BYFHTES:

directors:

Wong Man Hin, Raymond EXE

Lam Ka Wai, Graham MKE

Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey PRiEE

o
=
o
ISd
oe
s
ol
[

2

ZHEREXAR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 15. EERSREEAEME(H)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(@ Directors’ emoluments (continued) @ EZEEH2EE)
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-BEZENF=ZRA=+—HLE
E
Other emoluments
HinBie
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
He 2R RINER
e  REMERN BEE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET THET FAET
Executive directors: BITES:
Leung Heung Ying, Alvin' P - 1,392 1 1,393
Chung Oi Ling, Stella’ EEB' - 36 - 36
Lo Chi Ho, William' B - - - -
Lo Fong Hung BAf - 245 12 257
Wang Xiangfei TR - 245 12 257
Kwan Man Fai HE - 245 12 257
Independent non-executive BIUFHTEE:
directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles’ Celi 15 - - 15
Orr, Joseph Wai Shing' g 15 - - 15
Wong Ngao San, Marcus' Fany' 14 - - 14
Wong Man Hin, Raymond BEXE 244 - - 244
Lam Ka Wai, Graham WRE 244 - - 244
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey FR2iE 244 - - 244
776 2,163 37 2,976
! Resigned on 11 April 2008 ! MZZZEN\FMA+—HEHTE
There was no arrangement under which directors waived HEZZ—ZFA=FT—HIWE
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the two years FE BESENEXFREWREE
ended 31 March 2010. B & 2 Z2HE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 15. EERESHREBAESME(H)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(o)  Senior management’s emoluments ) EREBAEME
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in RAEBRERSHALS  BE
the Group, none of them (2009: one) was director of ZETNEF - —R)EMee R
the Company whose emoluments are set out above. FXZARRRESE - hE(ZTE
The emoluments of the five (2009: four) highest paid NEF - W) &EeHALTZEEm
individuals were as follows: N
2010 2009
—E-FF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Salaries, allowances and e R REAMET
other benefits 2,237 3,085
Retirement benefits scheme RUREFIFHEIH R
contributions 19 72
2,256 3,157
The emoluments of five (2009: four) highest paid RAA(ZETNF WA )&= HE
employees fall in the following bands: B2MeN T T5IEeEHE
Number of individuals
A
2010 2009
—E-2F —EENF
Emoluments bands B < &5 [Z]
Nil — HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 5 3
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 722,000,000
om = 1
5 4
(c) Except for approximately HK$1,266,000 in aggregate ) BREEZZZNF=HA=1+—H
paid to five former directors of the Company for loss I FERARBABREBHTR o
e — o
of office during the year ended 31 March 2009, no ®E XA $£1,266,0008 7T %
emoluments have been paid by the Group to the RBEE-Z—ZTF=A=+—H1 i
directors of the Company or the five highest paid MEFE - AEREWERAAQFE "(E
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the ER AR EEIF AL MEAEE %
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the LAMER S R AR E S A% ﬁ
two years ended 31 March 2010. Er 2 S8 - SERRE  BEAE é‘ﬁ
& o &
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. % - BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold equipment
landand  Leasehold  Plantand  and motor Construction
buildings  improvements  machinery vehicles i progress Total
HELH B B
RET HENEEE BERES kAE EEIR ekl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FHL TR TAL TAL TATL
CosT A
At 1 Apri 2008 RZZEN\ERA—H - 111 24,305 32,320 - 56,736
Exchange realignment EH A% - 1 (131) (101) - (231)
Additions AE - - - 06 - 66
Disposals & - - (139) (332) - 471)
Deregistration of subsidiaries MB AR B - - (424) (512) - (936)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHELR - - - (12) - (12)
At 31 March 2009 RZZENE=R
=+-H - 112 23,611 31,429 - 55,152
Exchange realignment ERRE: S 15 1 4 5 1 63
Additions NE 57 - 1,242 182 4,966 6,447
Disposal HE - (113) (636) (336) - (1,085)
Acaquisition of subsidiaries WEEIBAR 7,359 - 9,863 1,131 437 18,790
Transfer B 438 - 4,966 - (5,404) -
At 31 March 2010 RZET-Z5=4
=t-A 7,869 - 39,087 32,411 - 79,367
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  B3HTE R s
AND AMORISATION
At 1 Apri 2007 RZZZ+ENA—A - 91 24,159 31,886 - 56,136
Exchange realignment fEH A% - 1 (121) 97) - (17)
Charge for the year REEXM - 3 100 350 - 453
Eliminated on disposals HER - - (114) (319) - (433)
Eliminated on deregistration MEADREEMEEE
of subsidiaries - - (424) (512 - (936)
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary % — B A alk 44 - - - 8) - ®)
At 31 March 2009 RZZENF=ZA
=+-H - 9% 23,600 31,300 - 54,995
Exchange realignment [ 3 1 1 20 2 - 24
Charge for the year KEETH 414 - 1,074 189 - 1,677
Eliminated on disposal e - (96) (636) (229) - (955)
At 31 March 2010 RZT-Z5=4
=t-A 415 - 24,058 31,268 - 55,741
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2010 RZT-Z25=4
=t+-H 7,454 - 15,029 1,143 - 23,626
At 31 March 2009 RZZENF=A
=+-H - 17 11 129 - 157




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —E—ZTF=A=+—HILFEE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) ~ 16. #1% - BER&E (&)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are FitmE - BERREEE DAESE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per BT FERFHRINE -
annum:
Leasehold land and buildings ~ Over the shorter of the term HETHREF RS FH
of the leases or 3.33% 3.33% 2 [
eE
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term HEMEEE RHEFHK15%
of the leases or 15% ZHEsEE
Plant and machinery 10% to 25% R Ta i s 10%ZE25%
Furniture, equipment and 10% to 25% B BRERTE 10%E25%

motor vehicles

The carrying value of leasehold land and buildings shown BRI AEL W RETEREAE
above comprises:

2010 2009
—E-EF ZTENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Outside Hong Kong, held on leases IR B BRINE10E505
of 10 to 50 years HaEE 7,454 -

o
g
&
Hi_
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BLEE
On-line game
Exploration intellectual
and evaluation Mining property  Patents and
assets rights rights  trademarks Total
B B Eill
RiHEEE e HRER REE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TR FhEL FET TR
COoST KA
At 1 April 2008 RZZZ/\EMA—-A - - 46,440 1,864 48,304
Exchange realignment B A% - - - (90) (90)
Eliminated on disposal of HEHBARRHE
subsidiaries - - (46,440) (1,122) (47,562)
At 31 March 2009 RZZENF=A=1—H - - - 652 652
Exchange redlignment s 253 120 - 11 384
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note )~ WEEHBAR (M) 44,380 97,620 - - 142,000
At 31 March 2010 RZE-S¥=R=+-H 44,633 97,740 - 663 143,036

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION B3ty

At 1 April 2008 RZET)\FNA—H - - 46,440 1,864 48,304
Exchange realignment R - - - (90) (90)
Eliminated on disposal of HERBARRHE
Subsidiaries - - (46,440) (1,122) (47,562)
At 31 March 2009 RZEENE=A=1-H - - - 652 652
Exchange realignment PR - 4 - 1 15
5 Charge for the year (Note ii) REESH (i) - 3,201 - - 3,201
S
é At 31 March 2010 RZE-Z£¥=fA=+-H - 3,206 - 0663 3,868
3
ézc: CARRYING VALUES REE
% At 31 March 2010 RZE-2F=f=+-H 44,633 94,535 - - 139,168
g
g At 31 March 2009 R-TBAFZA=+-A - - - - -
[0}
% Patents and trademarks and on-line game intellectual property BRELEZEANRE B SEE S
g rights have definite useful lives and are amortised on a straight- FERFEHMAER  WREGENEFNA
E’ line basis over five years. By o
g
£
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

The mining right and the exploration right together with other
exploration and evaluation assets purchased as part of a
business combination during the year ended 31 March 2010
are initially recognised at their fair values on acquisition with
reference to professional valuation which is based on discounted
cash flow method with reference to the operating environment
of each of the operating entities. At the end of the reporting
period, mining right and exploration and evaluation assets are
measured using the cost model.

ii. No amortisation is provided to write off the cost of exploration

and evaluation assets as there is no operation commenced as
at 31 March 2010.

Details of the Group’s mining right and exploration right are as

17.

BIVEE(#)
FisE -

HE_Z-ZF-_A=+—HILFERE
ARG A N B HR A SE (R Eoth B R B AT
BEEREBAH &N URRRE
KETRRERB AR SREEE
HZBEMAE - AR 2 A FE
HERR o NS IR RS - IRIEREA
R EAHEE ERARAREEE -

i, HREE—T—ZTF=-A=1+—HI1t#%
EEFEER - BOLESHZE LA B
B FHEBERA ©

REE R R BRI IR T

follows:—
Mines Locations Expiry dates Note
5 #h 26 EHA Bt =
Mining right
RIERE
Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine Bei Ta Mountain, June 2018 -
FIRFERETE Qitai County, —F—N\FHAH

Xinjiang Uygur

Autonomous Region

(FrBgERaRRTaKIEL)
Exploration right
PR
Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine Bei Ta Mountain, October 2011 ()
SN CR Qitai County, —F—F1+A

Xinjiang Uygur

Autonomous Region

(FrBgETRaRRTAFIEL)
Note: MisE

(@) The exploration right represents licence for the right for
exploration in the specified location in the PRC, which is
included in the exploration and evaluation assets of the Group
and the period of this exploration right is 2 years.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the exploration right was
renewed to October 2011. As at the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has not changed
the intention to apply for any extension of the licence for the
exploration right until the application of the mining right for Zexu
Open Pit Coal Mine has been approved. The Group is confident
that the licence will be renewed by the relevant authorities upon
expiry date.

(@)  HREEET BT EETTRIR 2
TP IRER - Bt AR E 2 R KT
HEE  WHREZHRAME

REBEZZT—ZTF=—A=1+—HILF
B WiEEgsEE—T——%+A -
RIFATRHRELEE D NEEYT
M A R R R M B R
HZ B BERIEBHEXEEAERE
W REEMEAL AEEREEH
R E R B B BRI
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18. GOODWILL 18. BH&
HK$'000
FAT
COST RS
At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 R_ZEZENFMNA—BER-_FTANF=A
—1-g 17,004
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries LT FEE B /B 7 )RR A 20,465
At 31 March 2010 RZE—FTF=A=+—H 37,469
IMPAIRMENT RE
At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009 REZZEZN\FEA-—BRZZETNF=H
=t+-n 17,004
Impairment loss recognised in the year FAEERREESE 5,400
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZTF=A=+—H 22,404
CARRYING VALUES FREE
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE—ZTF=A=+—H 15,065
At 31 March 2009 RZEENF=A=+—H -
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated HESBASHDEGrEEeRXEZRKEET
to two cash generating units ("CGUs") that are expected to B OB ISIE SRR E R D LB

benefit from that business combination with reference to
professional valuation which is based on discounted cash flow
method with reference to the operating environment of each of
the operating entities. The management considers subsidiaries
acquired during the year represent a separate CGU for the
purpose of goodwill impairment testing. At the end of the

BHEBEME  SEISEHEZE
REBEHZMERSELFM([RE
EEBM]) - piEmBRENATNE &'
BERFANBZHNBARRBIZE
SELEMN - NIMEMBEERE - R
EENFT A=t —HOIBREZEW

reporting period, the carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 BATIZEEEmENT
December 2009 allocated to these subsidiaries are as follows:
2010 2009
—E-Z2F ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FBT
Qitai County Zexu Trading Company AEBEEREEREMT
Limited AA] 4,832 -
Mulei County Kai Yuen Coal REZIFRHRERET
Company Limited NG 10,233 -

15,065 -
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18.

19.

20.

21.

GOODWILL (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs are determined
from value-in-use calculations. That calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-year period, and discount rate
of 22.5% using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the CGUs. (2009: Nil). Cash flows beyond 5 year period
have been extrapolated using zero growth rate per annum,
which is based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in
selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market.

Based on the aforesaid value-in-use calculations, the directors
considered an impairment loss of goodwill of approximately
HK$1,732,000 (2009: Nil) and HK$3,668,000 (2009: Nil)
respectively in relation to goodwill arising on acquisition of Qitai
County Zexu Trading Company Limited and Mulei County Kai
Yuen Coal Company Limited during the year ended 31 March
2010.

SECURITY DEPOSIT

The balance represents a bank deposit placed for securing
the Group’s obligation in environmental restoration, which is
interest-bearing at the prevailing bank saving interest rate and
can be withdrawn upon the expiry of the Group’s mining right.

18.

19.

B2 (E)

R e EEEMN 2 AT E S B RE
FREAFELETE - ZitEFERK
EEEHMEREATHRMBESE &
RHRIR & B A B 2 B SRS R R E R
%2 B AT SRl 2 B ATt R AR &K
225%(ZZFTNF - ) o AFHRHE
ZHRERENERBREITERRIER
B BFTHERMY  c EENEEK
ANEBTBEEH RYETIHERRESH 2
JEHRETHE -

RIELAFEREAENEL EEREA
MREE-_T—ZTFE-_A=Z+—HILF
FRETeZEEmEERETAANR
REGZINFRERERETARINMELR
B EEREBED R A#1,732,000%8
TL(ZZEZNF « #) & 3,668,000/8 7T
(ZEZNF - |) -

RERE
BHRIEASERBITIRREREAEMNT
BZRITER  DIRERZBTERERN
REHB o WA R AER 2 RIEEE R
IRER o

INVENTORIES 20. 78
2010 2009
—ZT-ZTF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHET
Consumables SHE @ 409 45
Finished goods BURK G 62,998 1,599
63,407 1,644

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of approximately HK$16,800,000 (2009:
HK$264,000) in respect of raw materials and finished goods to
write down the inventories to its net realisable value.

DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
Balances as at 31 March 2009 represented refundable
deposits paid as earnest money by a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company which entered into a memorandum of
understanding on 13 March 2009 with an independent third
party in relation to the acquisition of the 51% equity interest in
Star Fortune International Company Limited (“Star Fortune”)
for a consideration of HK$104,066,000. Details of which
are set out in Note 31. The balance has been offset with the
consideration during the year.

21.

BE_T-TF=-A=t+—HLHFE"
NEEFREM B R B R R ES
1B 4916,800,000 B L ( Z T T N F
264,000/ 7T ) LAMIUR 7 & 2 A A #438)F
fgo

WM BARZZSE
R-ZETNFZA=+—BZE#IER
BARAR—ME2EWNBAREBIE
—HRETNFZA+ZBHRERE
104,066,000 T i 2 1 & & BRI E
ERARNENESE]) Z51%REFT L
ZBERY  EARESE N2
REETE - BRFFIBEANEEST - 82
ERFEREENRE -
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22. BWERKREMEWFIE

2010 2009
—Z=-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Trade and bills receivables EUE R eI ZE 12,350 1,354
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W ERE SRR S
of trade receivables (719) (600)
11,631 754
Prepayments, deposits and other FERTFIE « e REM
receivables fEU RIS 1,781 2,425
13,412 3,179

The Group’s sales to coal customers are largely on cash
basis or with payment in advance. For certain well-established
customers, the Group allows an average credit period of 90
days.

The Group’s sales to other customers are on open account
terms. Trading terms with customers are largely on credit,
except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. Invoices are normally payable within 30 days
of issuance, except for certain well-established customers,
where the terms are extended to 180 days.

Included in the trade receivables is bills receivables amounted
to approximately HK$10,117,000 (2009: Nil) aged within one
year.

At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of the trade
and bills receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts was as

REBEREREFELZHERTDIA
Be AEENABMNRE - B THE
REFZEPME  AEBRAEZFI9(E
EH#§A90H -

AEBEREMEFFHZHERGLEY
NETT - BIEP —RARENZRIN
REDEFHEGTEERZH - B
FTETHARRIFZEPRRI1BOKEEY
S —RRZANBER B HEI0RANK

FTAEUE R 2 U EE4910,117,000
BIL(ZETNF - |) BRA—FN -

REE 2 BRERLEWER(RNGRR
R ERR) N RE PRERE ZRIR ST

follows: s
2010 2009
—E-FfF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within 90 days 90K A 7,248 565
91 — 180 days 91X E180K A 4,383 26
181 — 365 days 181K E365AK - -
Over 1 year BiE1F - 163

11,631 754
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. EWER &Eﬂﬂﬂguﬁlmlﬁ(f“
At 31 March 2010 and 2009, the aging analysis of trade @ RNRZE—ZFR_FTNF=A
receivables that were past due but not impaired are as =+—H  E@fERLEREZ
follows: FEWERERR DT ¢
Neither past Past due but not impaired
due nor EABERERRE
impaired 91to
Total FEHE <90 days 365days  Over1 year
e ARRE DPHROKXK  9XRE365K BB1F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHT FHET FHT
2010 —E-BF 11,631 11,631 - - -
2009 —ETNE 754 565 11 15 163

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to wide range of customers for whom
there was no recent history of default. The Group did not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired
at 31 March 2009 related to a number of independent
customers that had a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group did not hold any collateral over
these balances.

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts of trade
receivables in aggregate during the year are as follows:

AEE R RERRE 2 ST
BN Z AW ELREREEZE
o REEN BRI S EHRITE T
f—HﬁwEﬁDD"

ERBHERR_ZTNF=ZA
=t —RHBEREREERTS
RZ2BERAKERCIFR 2B
VEF - HREEERTEEAR
B - MU FRERDER 2R 22K
| - BREBERLER  EEERRE
BARARESRIELIRERE - K
SR IB0 SRk b S A ERH A A (]

[ ]
AR °

ERRIN SRR 280
T

2010 2009

—E-—FF —ETNEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FAT

Balance at beginning of the year FEEER 600 629
Exchange realignment PE 3 A% 1 4)
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries U 8 k& A 7R EE A 671 -
Recognised during the year FNER 118 -
Amount recovered during the year FERD W EFHRIE (671) -
Written off s = (25)
Balance at end of the year TR AL 719 600
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(b)  (continued)
Included in the impairment loss are individually
impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance
of HK$719,000 (2009: HK$600,000) which has been
in financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

In addition, a debtor balance of HK$3,728,000 (2010:
Nil) has been recognised as bad debts during the year
ended 31 March 2009 and has been individually written
off during the same year since the customer of such debt
has been in financial difficulties

() Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts of other
receivables in aggregate during the year are as follow:

22. BWEFR

(b)

R H b FE UL FRIE ()
(%)
FABESEZ B ERERKE
FREE SR AREE 719,000 T (=
T H4F 1 600,000/ 7T) ¢ EHIR
MR EREH - NEEWE
FULEESRIF AT MEAR -

o AREREBEEZER
T B R 8 - BUE IS SRS
3,728,000 L (ZE—ZF : 4ﬂi)
EREE-_ZTTNF=A=1+—H
L FEERBER - WHRREES

FEREAMEWRFERERE Y &
rEELT

2010 2009

—E-TF —TENEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Balance at beginning of the year FE - 28
Amounts written off as uncollectible TeeUeEl mfifiss 2 £58 = (28)
Balance at end of the year FIREERR - -

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash of the Group comprised bank
balances and cash held by the Group and short-term
deposits amounting to approximately HK$283,347,000 (2009:
HK$375,579,000) with an original maturity of three months or
less. The bank balances and bank deposits carried interest at
market rates ranging from 0% to 1.35% (2009: O % to 0.36%)
per annum.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts

23.

ﬁE{Tnﬂﬁ&Iﬁ%

REBZRITEF LR BEAEER
BZROEFRERES  UARRIHAER

=18 A sk AR 2 52 BT R

K 47283,347,000

BT (ZZEZTNF : 375,579,000/87C) °
IRITHEETT MBI ERIEN TOEE1.35E

(

—ETAE  0FEF0.36/F) 2 HIHEF

gEtHg -

RITEFRIRSBIETIIARBEERY

DI

denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional BEEMELASN 2 SN EHE 2 FRIE ¢
currency of the entity to which they relate:

2010 2009
—Z-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Great Britain Pound gz 6 6
EUR BT 138 24
USbD =TT 38 22




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e M RERME (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 B2 —T—ZF=HA=+—H | FE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of the trade
payables were as follows:

24,

ENERREESKIE
PERE BRI AR - ENERZRRD
W

2010 2009

—ZT-ZF —ETNEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Within 90 days 90K~ 12,898 1,212
91 - 180 days 91 RE180KA 1,253 488
181 - 365 days 181K E365KA 2,795 -
Over 1 year HBiBE1F 655 470
Trade payables FERTER 17,601 2,170
Receipt in advance TEM A 1,373 1,541
Other payables and accruals Hib e RIE R ERT B A 20,626 3,703
39,600 7,414

The average credit period of purchases of goods is 180 days.
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

At 31 March 2010, a balance payable to Mr. Liang Jin Yau
(“Mr. Liang”), a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group,
amounting to HK$1,340,000 (2009: HK$1,500,000) was
included in other payables. The amount was unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

REmm FHEEHR/180K - AEME
B HIE B EEREIRBUR - BIRFTEE
NHERNMEERRABE -

MN-T-TE=A=+—H EfEXE
EETHBARESERERAE(I R
4 ) AE1,340,0008 T ( — BT E
1,500,000 70 ) 2 &8k - Bt AHAME
NIE - BESBEAEER - T ER
AMEER(ER -

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 25. BNEBEARRE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZEThEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FT
Asia Peace Development Limited BERERARAR(EFRM])
(“Asia Peace”) 168 773
Ultra Good Electroplating Limited FEEFEBRAA(RFED
(“Ultra Good”) = 74
Artfield Industries (Shenzhen) Limited HHEZORIDBRAF]
(“Artfield Industries (Shenzhen)”) (Mg EZECRYD D) = 2,377
168 3,224
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25.

26.

27.

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
(continued)

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

Mr. Liang has beneficial interests in these related companies.

AMOUNT DUE TO A MINORITY SHAREHOLDER
The amount represents an unsecured loan denominated in
RMB, bearing interest at 1.5% and repayable 6 months after
date of the drawdown of the loan, and the loan could be
renewed for a further 6 months period.

25.

26.

A EEATREE)

BRREARISA - TH A RARESR
g -

REGCHFAZEWERFT 2B ©

PEft— B DRIRRZ IR
BRRBRAAREIIEZ RERE
W 1 5E AT B RARIERE R B Hitk
ANEAME - ERAIBEHEAEA -

Principal outstanding Maturity Carrying amount
REBELSHE ZIH8R BREE
HK$'000
THET

RMB 25,000,000 June 2010
AR #25,000,0007T —E-FTERA 28,500

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

On 14 March 2008, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible loan notes with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$200,000,000 to Ascent Goal simultaneously upon
completion of the issue and allotment of 400,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each. The notes are denominated in HK$
and entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
notes and their settlement date on 13 March 2011 in multiples
of HK$1,000,000 at a conversion price HK$0.20 (subject to
adjustments) per share. The shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversions shall rank pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with all other ordinary shares in issue by the
Company on the date of such allotment and issue.

The convertible loan notes contain two components, liability
and equity elements. The equity element is presented in equity
heading (“convertible loan notes reserve”). The effective interest
rate of the liability component is 11.14%.

27.

ARREERE

RZZEZENF=AFMEHE  AREIRTE
X %% 17 K B % 400,000,000 F% & i% T &
0BT Emkz R - MEEEITAR
% #4758 /5200,000,0007 7T 2 T B A
BEEZE ZEZEABTE B
FTRHEAENRZEZBEZRTABRE
EEBRH T ——F=A+=A5HH
BE A i SR B % 0.208 7T (7] T %)
B ERARNARERR - HREAS
1,000,000/ 70 7 E 81 - IR 31T R IR
BRItz MR ERAC R R BEITH S
AARTEEMBETEBIRNES A
HEBRISER

AMBREEREE S8 ERERWE
Do Hmab D N RN [ T RREERE
BREIZY - AERO 2 BERMER
11,142 -
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27. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (continued) 27. IRREEEE(H)
The movement of the liability component of the convertible loan RREERRABID 2FNEHEH
notes for the year is set out below: FT
2010 2009
—E-=F ZZTThEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FT
Carrying amount at 1 April AN A—RZEEEE 161,871 145,237
Effective interest expenses (Note 9) ERRF BT (FEE9) 18,539 16,634
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BZEHEE 180,410 161,871
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.10 each Amount
SREE
01082
EERHAE ]
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: EERRA
Balance at 1 April 2008, RZZEZENFMHA—A -
31 March 2009 “EENF=ZA=+—HK
and 31 March 2010 ZE—EF=A=+—H
2 EER 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
Balance at 1 April 2008, RZZEZENFMHA—A -
31 March 2009 ZETNF=A=+—HK
and 31 March 2010 —E-LTF=A=+—H
R 765,373,584 76,537
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29. DEFERRED TAX

29.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised and movement thereof during the current and prior

EERIR
ATRERRBZEIBEEHARE(E
BE ) AR EL A AN R o A ) 3B 1 3 o A

reporting periods. ZEE) o
Accelerated
tax Intangible
depreciation assets Tax losses Total
MEBETE BYEE BIBEE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THER TEL TR
At 1 April 2008 53 - (53) -
Change in tax rate €] - 3 -
At 31 March 2009 WZEZNF=A=+-H 50 - (c0) -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries WENRBLARIREA - 33,783 - 33,783
Exchange realignment [& 5 - 89 - 89
Credit to consolidated statement of RAFE 2 ra2ENaR

comprehensive income for the year A - (508) - (508)
At 31 March 2010 RZZE-TFZA=1+—H 50 33,364 (50) 33,364

At 31 March 2010, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$58,315,000 (2009: HK$52,275,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$302,000 (2009:
HK$302,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$58,013,000 (2009: HK$51,973,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profits streams. Tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

As 31 March 2010, the Group had deductible temporary
differences of HK$17,374,000 (2009: HK$6,720,000). No
deferred tax assets has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$22,957,000 (2009: Nil) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

MN-TB-—TE=A=+—H K&EEZ
FB) A BB 518 A 58,315,000/ T (=
T T 52,275,000/8 7T ) © Al A 1E
HIEAR KGN - NEBEHZSTEED
302,000 7L ( Z T N ¢ 302,000
T MERIEEFRIAAE - RELATEAIB
BZREFIR - AL ARBHB T 2B
E718 4958,013,000/8 T ( Z T N, F -
51,973,000/8 7T ) lERIEIE IR E EE © T
TAE 18 ] PR B4t EE o

MN-EB-TE=A=+—H K&EEH
R B R £ 817,374,000 0 (—2F
JL4F ¢ 6,720,000/87C) - A AR E
By = BN A AT RE R EHNR B SR B F) -
MO0 4 5 B AT A0 A R R SR R RE AT
PIBEE -

REPRHPEMSRERE AT
NE—A—B#  BahERNERR
HERBREL 2 % M) T S R 2 BE B U FE
i o LR BB AR RHEF B
2 E R E 22,057,000 T (2 Z N
F o BINGEMBREELIEERIER
% DERASEEEH RO ERERE
R BEBERNEESAETENA
AR E -
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30. PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION 30. B8R - EERIBERNRE

AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

HK$’000

FHT

At 1 April 2009 RZZEZTNFMNA—H -

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries G =PNGIES-IN 6,606

Utilised during the year FRCEHA (4,816)

At 31 March 2010 R-Z—RE=A=+—§ 1,790

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs, in relation to all of the two mines of the Group,
amounted to HK$1,790,000 as at 31 March 2010.

Mining activities may result in land subsidence, which could
lead to losses to the residents of the mining areas. Pursuant
to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required to
make compensation payments to the residents for their losses
resulting from land subsidence, or to restore the mining areas
back to certain acceptable conditions.

Under existing legislation, management believes that there are
no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position or results of operations of the Group.
The PRC government, however, has moved and may move
further towards the adoption of more stringent environmental
standards. Environmental liabilities are subject to considerable
uncertainty which affect the Group’s ability to estimate the
ultimate cost of remediation efforts. These uncertainties
include: (i) the exact nature and extent of the contamination
at various sites including, but not limited to, coal mines and
land development areas, whether operating, closed or sold,
(i) the extent of required cleanup efforts, (i) varying costs of
alternative remediation strategies, (iv) changes in environmental
remediation requirements, and (v) the identification of new
remediation sites.

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
clean up costs has been determined by management
based on their past experience and best estimate of future
expenditure by discounting the expected expenditures to their
net present value. However, in so far as the effect of the land
and the environment from current mining activities becomes
apparent in future periods, the estimate of the associated costs
may be subject to revision in the future. The amounts provided
in relation to close down, restoration and environmental clean
up costs are reviewed at least annually based upon the facts
and circumstances available at the time and the provisions are
updated accordingly.

RZB—FBFE=A=1+—0  #tA&EE
EEAREMEIE 2 R - BB RIREARAR
VEH 7 #4# 51,790,0005 7T

RIS AT LG BUNFE - & SRR
e EREZER - RIBABETER
] AEE AR EEREKR 2B
AARERELRE  SSRATRILERIX
BEE—EAIREMM

ERITEN - ERERETSREEWN
AR ARET BN AEERERE
REEFZEBOHELE - Al - PRBFE
RAF A EE — P EBEEBHORRE
£ RREMFRAERENTHEER
= WA RFEREEMGT RRRRRE
ERAMEESN - WETHERREHE
(AT REE(REETRREED -
BRI & &5 N L o R 3 R 0 ) i
BEHRSRZHEEREE  (IFERHA
BETERRRE (i) SEEMm A fHE A
REEMERIRAR ¢ (VIREHERTENE
B B (v)RTHETE 7R B R R A R0 3
B

EEECDRBERFBREELR  UREAK
RS 2 AEMF - WA TRRFEZAR
EHREFEMEERET BERRE
RIS - AR - RE B RTRES
HER2TWEREZERRKABE
BENR - RIMERKAZ A AR KR
RAEHLERT - 3BER - BB RIRFBIE
RARBz BEELSBFRIEERA
BzEEREAMER - NIREURHE
(=
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31.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 3 July 2009, the Group completed the acquisition of
51% equity interest in Star Fortune, which engages in
mining, sales and distribution of coal in the PRC, at an
aggregate consideration of HK$104,066,000 including legal
and professional fees directly attributable to the acquisition
amounting to approximately HK$4,066,000. This transaction
has been accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting.

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction, and the

31. WEEMIB A A
R-ZZEZANF+A=0 KEETK
WHEENESZ(WPRETEFRAK - HE
o R )51% I ANER - BREA
104,066,000/ 7T © BiE W IE E & ERE
2 REZEEF#)4,066,00087T ° RER
SERBESAETTERRE

RHMBAREEFENRBHRELEZ

goodwill arising on acquisition, are as follows: EmENT
Carrying Acquiree’s Acquiree’s
amount before fair value fair value at
acquisition adjustments acquisition date
wUEE A
U yapd RS A H
W AT ERE A DNFERE ZAFHE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHET
Net assets acquired: FTBABESE :
Property, plant and equipment E -« WENERE 18,790 - 18,790
Intangible assets BREE 185,323 (43,323) 142,000
Inventories 78 70,297 - 70,297
Trade and other receivables TEW &3 & E Ath FE U Il 28,787 - 28,787
Bank balances and cash ROEFRRE 32,461 - 32,461
Trade and other payables e E R R EA S ZUR (67,260) - (67,260)
Amount due to minority shareholder JER D EPRER FRIE (28,500) - (28,500
Deferred tax liabilities ELFERE (44,613) 10,830 (33,783)
Taxation payable e TRIA (2,263) - (2,263)
Provision for close down, restoration B - BERRIENA
and environmental costs s (6,606) - (6,606)
Net assets acquired B ABEFE 196,416 (32,493) 163,923
Minority interests DERR RS (80,322)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 18)  UkEEFrEE £ v 752
(FfizE18) 20,465
Total consideration BRE 104,066
Satisfied by: OB YEE
Deposits for acquisition of WHEH B AR 2 ke
subsidiaries (Note 21) (MfzEo1) 2,000
Cash Be 102,066
104,066
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: ~ FUWEMES 2R &R
R
Cash consideration HeRE 102,066
Bank balances and cash acquired FrEARITEERES (32,461)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents Y B AR 2R MRS
in respect of the acquisition SEERMLFE
of subsidiaries 69,605
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The goodwill on acquisition of the above subsidiaries
represents opportunities for the Group to bring its expertise
to the proposition and access to the region of PRC that are

provided by the above newly acquired subsidiaries.

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed
HK$86,514,000 to the Group’s turnover and a loss for the year
of HK$6,766,000 between the date of acquisition and the end

of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2009,
total group revenue for the period would have been
HK$159,551,000 and loss for the year would have been
HK$2,555,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purpose only and is not necessarily an indicative revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April

2009, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2009 on 3 February 2009,
the Group disposed of its 100% interests in Artfield Company
Limited and its subsidiaries (including Matrix Software
Inc.) (“Disposal Group”) to an independent third party at a
consideration of HK$100. The net assets of Disposal Group at

the date of disposal were as follows:

31.

Wi BT D B (48)

Wi LB ARELE 2 BBEAEE
A LA R B AR MESKEHE
BRAMFSES BRI INAER -

FR - WEREB QRN B BRRER
SHEAERE AN ER T REEERF
M EE 5 586,514,000 7T 56,766,000
YEIT

BEWEBER-_ZEZTNFEA—HBR
X - BRI SR BB W as K F R E 1R FE S 7
#%159,551,0007% 7T [ 2,555,000 7T ©
BEEREHFAPAL - RUEHRT
MEKRBER-_ETAFNA—AE
B AREBEBBRE G Ll kg E
R N NEIERARIRER ZTEA -

32. HEMBAT

REE-_ZTETAF=-_A=+—HItF
EAEBR_ZETAF-_A=BERK
{E10078 LML 58 = 75 & E R Artfield
Company Limited & E i B 2 7 (B #E
Matrix Software Inc.) ([ HEELE ) 2%
iz HESERHEBHZEEF
EmF

3 February 2009

—EBNF
—H=H
HK$’000
FAET
Net assets of Disposal Group disposed of: & B HEEEEEFE -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB REE 4
Trade and other receivables JEUSTES 3 R HL A FE LKL SR IR 9
13
Exchange translation reserve realised on A B B /B 1 ) B 48 3R O
disposal of subsidiaries (16)
Gain on disposal HEKE 3

Total consideration BRAE

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year ended 31 March
2009 had no significant impact on the turnover, cash flows and

results of the Group for that year.

ECTZTAF=ZR=1+—HIFE
ZHBRARHALEEZFE A%
CBERREEMBERTE -

54
&
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33. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. MiEB A BHEEEEM
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group deregistered REBEEZFTTNF=-A=+—HBLF
two of its subsidiaries, Ferdinand International (Marketing) B AEERETMERENB A
Limited (“Ferdinand International (Marketing)”) and 1= fR 2 ¥E AJFerdinand International (Marketing)
AR DG (=L ). Limited ( [ Ferdinand International

(Marketing) ) k=R 2 HiEER G R AR
((=RReH]) -

Net liabilities at the date of deregistration REGEEM B & &%
Ferdinand
International Total
(Marketing) SHEH e
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
T FHET FHET
Exchange translation reserve NP EENGIE i Eaatiis 5]
realised on deregistration of I 5 fE e
subsidiaries (2,733) 115 (2,618)
Net gain on deregistration G pR A et 2,733 (115) 2,618
The subsidiaries deregistered during the year ended 31 March REBEE-_TZNF=A=+—HILFE
2009 had no significant impact on the turnover and results of BHEAM B ARYAEEZE2E
the Group for that year. XENEEMEEATE
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. BEALIRS
()  Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated ()  BEEMERREMIYTEES
financial statements, the significant related party G REBR—REGBIEPET
transactions, which were carried out in the normal course ZERBEALRZHOT

of the Group’s business are as follows:

2010 2009
—E-—FfF ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAET
Asia Peace fEn
— purchase of clocks, timepieces, —RERE - BT 2R
gifts and premium products Mg mEm 314 9,963
— sales of clocks —HERE 124 -
— rental expenses —Her% 200 -
Ultra Good FEE
— purchase of electroplating —EEEERS
services - 74
Star Fortune International ENEBERERAT
Development Company Limited (T2hEa&E%R]) (M)
(“SFID”) (Note)
— loan interest expenses —BHF M 217 -
Artfield Industries (Shenzhen) W EZE ORI
— rental expenses paid -BNESRX = 120
China Sonangol 22 B
— management fee income received  — B UREREIE B I A 5,000 4,000
— rental expenses —feMX 480 -
Note: SFID is the holder of 49% equity interest of Star Fortune M ENESREARENEE49%
and is treated as the minority shareholder of the Group. AR FBEAN - SRR
REBZ DEIRR -
(i)  Compensation of key management personnel iy FEZEHEABMHE
The remuneration of directors and other members of key RAFE  EFRHMETEEEE
management during the year was as follows: RE eI
2010 2009
—E-—FF ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Short-term benefits EHEREA 1,812 2,939
Post-employment benefits BEB 2 187 33 37
1,845 2,976
The remuneration of directors and key executives was FERFETBAE ZB< R
determined by the remuneration committee having ZEEe2REEZEAAXRBE LTS
regard to the performance of individuals and market BEETE -

trends.
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35.

36.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group leases certain of its offices and staff quarters
under operating lease arrangements. Lease for properties are
negotiated for a term ranging from one to four years and rental
are fixed.

At the end of reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

35.

e ERE
REEEREBEA
AEERBCERELHBBETSET
MAERETIRES - ZFWMEZHAH
NF—FE2NFEALE  HeRBEEHAS -

RS R AERE - AEERETATR
HEEHE 2 RREMNRIEREFURA
ERATHREIE

2010 2009
—ZT—ZF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Within one year —FR 724 255
In the second to fifth years, inclusive EFE_FEERF (B
HEMF) 10 559
734 814
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 36. HERRESTE

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 21 March
1995 (the “Old Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to directors and eligible employees and
expired on 20 March 2005.

As a result of the amendments of Chapter 17 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) on 1 September 2001,
certain terms of the Old Scheme are no longer in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the Company can no longer grant
any further options under the Old Scheme without being
in breach of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company
terminated the Old Scheme and adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Scheme”), which was approved in the
Company’s annual general meeting on 28 August 2003, for
the purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
participants.

Except that no further options may be granted under the Old
Scheme subsequent to its termination, all the other provisions
of the Old Scheme will remain in force so as to give effect to
the exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Old
Scheme prior to 1 September 2001 and all such options will
remain valid and exercisable in accordance with the provisions
of the Old Scheme.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 36. BRESTEI(E)

According to the New Scheme, the directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including directors
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers,
customers, any technical, financial, and legal professional
advisors who have contributed to the Group, to subscribe for
shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$1 for each lot
of share options granted.

Options granted should be accepted within 28 days from the
date of grant. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the New
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the date adoption of the New Scheme.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no remained
outstanding share options granted under the scheme (2009:
Nil). The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the New Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

The directors may at their absolute discretion determine the
period during which an option may be exercised, such period
to expire not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option. The exercise price is determined by the directors and
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share on the date of grant, (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and (i) the nominal
value of the share.

During the year ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009, no
option was granted under the New Schemes to directors of
and consultants to the Group.

There was no outstanding share option as at 1 April 2008, 31
March 2009 and 31 March 2010.
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The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC. The retirement scheme contributions,
which are based on a certain percentage of the salaries of the
PRC subsidiaries’ employees, are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the year to which
they are related and represented the amount of contributions
payable by these subsidiaries to this scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of approximately HK$222,000 (2009:
HK$271,000) represents contributions payable to the schemes
by the Group in respect of the current financial year.

37. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 37.
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Notes

38. ARQFZMEIRRBHEK

FiE

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Convertible loan notes

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Non-current liability
Convertible loan notes
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377,188
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138,780
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. &RATRZBMBEMRREEK (&)

COMPANY (continued)
(@  Amounts due from subsidiaries @ ERMEBARIE
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable ZESHEAEER 2B NEAEE
on demand. SKIEE -
(o) Reserves ) f#E
Convertible Share
Share  loan notes options  Contributed  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus losses Total
TaREE
ROGEE  EERE BRERE AARR  ZHER 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL ThL FhL TARL TARL TAR
At 31 March 2008 RZTTN\E=A
=t-A 191,534 55,495 726 128,013 (222,062) 153,706
Cancellation of share FHAEERE 2 ERE
options granted
to directors - - (726) - 726 -
Loss and comprehensive ~ FRBERZAEMY
expense for the year - - - - (14,926) (14,926)
At 31 March 2009 RZETNE=R
=t-A 191,534 55,495 - 128,013 (236,262) 138,780
Loss and comprehensive  EREERZERX
expense for the year - - - - (70,889 (70,889)
At 31 March 2010 R-B-25=4
=t+-H 191,534 55,495 - 128,013 (307,151) 67,891
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the RARZEABERIER N T RRIR
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s FRUE A RIE BITIRGO M 1T 2 A
shares issued in exchange for the issued shares of the NRRMEE - BT ERE A A
companies being acquired and the value of net assets RAEEE—NNAFASEE LT
of the underlying companies acquired at the time of the ETEERCEEFECERE R
Group’s reorganisation in preparation for its listing in BARERE-NN\—FQ7VE KA
1995. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the AR EETIER T EMARRRE
Company may make distributions to its members out of [RERVEH DR ©

the contributed surplus in certain circumstances.
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company as at
31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 are as follows:

39.

FTEMBRF

ARV _ZE—ZFF_A=+—HBk=
ETNEZAZ+—BHBEZETENE

DFFEOT
Nominal
Place of value of
incorporation/ issued share/  Percentage of equity
Class of registration registered attributable to the
Name of subsidiary shares held and operations capital Group Principal activities
Bl AYe ERITRA rEEELE
WEARER FrERAER  EMREERE BE/ERER REBAL TERER
2010 2009
“E-BF —TTNE
% %
Directly held:
EiRE:
Teamright Holdings Limited Ordinary BVI US$1 100 100 Investment holding
EER EBETHS e REZER
Lasting Power Investments Limited  Ordinary BVI US$1 100 100 Investment holding
NEREBRRAF el KRBEUES 1R REER
Indirectly held:
BiEEE
Artfield Manufacturing Ordinary Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 100 Marketing of clocks
Company Limited
HEEXERAT el BE 1,000/ 7 BIEGE
Non-voting HK$2,000,000°
deferred shares ‘
ERZRELTR 2,000,007 7T
Wehrle Uhrenfabrik GmbH Ordinary Germany EUR255,646 100 100 Marketing of clocks
LRk (] 2556460 7T BiRE
EhEE(RIER Contributed PRC HK$3,000,000 100 100 Manufacture of clocks
AFEN]) capital i 3,000,000 7 G ERE
BAER
Progress Team Limited Ordinary Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Inactive
ERERAT EER Bt BT TEEY
Star Fortune Ordinary BVI US$780 51 - Investment holding
ENEE ERR ERETEE 780%TT RAEK
Ming Kei Kai Yuan Ordinary Hong Kong HK$60,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Investment Company Limted £ Bl 60,000,000/ REER
RESRZEBRAR
Mulei County Kai Yuen Ordinary PRC RMB30,000,000 100 - Coal mining and sales
Coal Company Limited L@k i AKH30,000,0007T FRREEER
REZIRERERELLA
Qitai County Zexu Trading Ordinary PRC RMB2,000,000 100 - Coal mining and sales
Company Limited L@k i AR#2,000,0007 FRREERER

SRBEEBEEAREMLT
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

# The non-voting deferred shares are entitled to a fixed non-
cumulative dividend at the rate of 5% per annum and a return of
the paid-up capital after the distribution of HK$100,000,000, but
carry no rights to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any
general meeting of the company, or to participate in the profits

or assets of the company.

%77 is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the

PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 20 May 2010, Lasting Power Investments Limited (“Lasting
Power”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an agreement with Star Fortune International Development
Company Limited, a minority shareholder of Star Fortune,
pursuant to which Lasting Power has conditionally agreed
to further acquire 49% equity interest in Star Fortune at a
consideration of HK$50,000,000. Star Fortune is an investment
holding company which is a subsidiary of the Company, with
its subsidiaries engaging in mining, sale and distribution of
coals in the PRC. Details of this transaction are stated in an

announcement of the Company dated 2 June 2010.

39.

40.

FTEMBAR (B
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMBGHE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Express in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
HE_T—ZTF=A=+—HIEFEUATELRSBEL)

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and minority  ANEEBRERBHREE 2 D AMES BE
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out below. R BEA R DB EELSHENT -

RESULTS ES

Year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—-HLEFE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-ZF _—TTNF —TT)\F —TTHF —TITRF

TURNOVER E L 96,090 23,105 137,164 173,405 221,135

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 484 518 7651) (14822  (21.631)  (84700)  (26930)

Gain on disposal of HEWB QR Z WS - 3 669 9,885 -
subsidiaries

Net gain on deregistration of ~ Ffi /872 7] i34

subsidiaries Al €y - 2,618 215 - -
Finance costs AR (18,756) (16,640) (974) (2,820) (2,893)
Impairment loss recognised ~ FEF A ERER - - - (46,440) -
in respect of intangible asset  JREEE
Impairment loss recognised  FLEAEMHRZ (5,400) - - (3,963) (17,004)
in respect of goodwil EEE
Impairment loss recognised L&A BIESIER 2 - - - - (23,768)
in respect of interests HE/BE

in associates

Loss before tax BRI AIES B (31,807) (28,841) (21,721)  (128,038) (70,595)

Income tax (expenses) credit ~ FTE# (%) #H& (2,163) 77 (524) 3,243 (1,516)

Loss for the year FAEE (33,970) (28,764) (22,245)  (124,795) (72,111)

Attributable to: FEfG

Owners of the Company ERAHEAA (31,789) (28,764) (22,245)  (124,577) (72,149)

Minority interests DER R (2,181) - - 218) 38
(33,970) (28,764) (22,245)  (124,795) (72,111)
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMBGIHE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Express in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
HE-_ZT—ZF=A=1T—RHLEFEUUAFTETREM)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND MINORITY ¥XEREBURDERFREZ

INTERESTS
At 31 March
R=A=+—-H

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-BF —“TTNF —TT)N\F —TTLF —TTRF
Total assets AR 543,233 385,977 403,730 86,535 229,629
Total liabilities FEY= (283,832)  (172,509) (169,569 (34,908) (89,788)
Minority interests DY R (78,004) - - 211 (7,002)
Net assets EEFE 181,397 213,468 234,161 51,838 132,839
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